Collective Bargaining Agreement 2024-2025

between the

Board of Education of Independent School District Number 89 of Oklahoma County, Oklahoma

and the

Oklahoma City AFT Local 2309, of The American Federation of Teachers AFL-CIO of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma



Teachers

Oklahoma City Public Schools

Table of Contents

A	RTICLE I - RECOGNITION	5
A	RTICLE II - DEFINITIONS	5
A	RTICLE III - FAIR PRACTICES	7
A	RTICLE IV - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	7
	Section 1: Definitions	7
	Section 2: Procedures for Filing a Grievance	7
	Section 3: General Provisions	10
ARTICLE V - UNION ACTIVITIES		13
	Section 1: Leave for Union Service	13
	Section 2: Bulletin Boards	13
	Section 3: Union Meetings in District-Owned Facilities	13
	Section 4: School Visitation by Union Representatives	14
	Section 5: Availability of Information	14
	Section 6: Teacher Rosters	14
	Section 7: Payroll Deductions	15
	Section 8: Board Agenda and Minutes	15
	Section 9: Representation on Committees	15
	Section 10: Announcements at Faculty Meetings	16
	Section 11: Meetings with Immediate Supervisor	16
	Section 12: Leave for Conventions, Conferences, and Meetings	16
	Section 13: Teacher Orientation	16
	Section 14: Union Electronic Mail Communication	16
	Section 15: Union School Mail Communication	17
A	RTICLE VI - GENERAL CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT	17
	Section 1: Fair Employment Practices	17
	Section 2: Calendar	17
	Section 3: Teaching Assignments and Duties	18
	Section 4: Seniority	22
	Section 5: Teacher Transfers and Promotions	22
	Section 6: Teacher's Time	25
	Section 7: Teacher Evaluation	27
	Section 8: Personnel Files	28
	Section 9: Class Interruptions	30
	Section 10: Teacher-Parent Conferences	30

	2024-2025 American Federation of Teachers Collective Bargaining Agreement Section 11: Facilities and Supplies	30
	Section 12: Miscellaneous	
	Section 13: Reduction in Force and Reemployment	
	Section 14: Faculty Advisory Committee (FAC)	
	Section 15: Site Waivers	
	Section 16: Drug and Alcohol Testing	
Α	RTICLE VII - TEACHER-PUPIL RELATIONS	34
	Section 1: Guidelines for Student Behavior and Student Code of Conduct	.34
	Section 2: Student Discipline and Referral	
Α	RTICLE VIII - TEACHERS' RIGHTS	36
	Section 1: Disciplinary Action	.36
	Section 2: Complaints	.36
	Section 3: Person and Property	.37
Α	RTICLE IX - SPECIAL TEACHERS AND SERVICES	38
	Section 1: Certified Substitutes	.38
	Section 2: Coaches	. 38
	Section 3: Special Education	.38
Α	RTICLE X - INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS	38
	Section 1: Selection, Purchase, Distribution, and Maintenance	.38
	Section 2: Miscellaneous	.39
Α	RTICLE XI - SAFETY AND HEALTH	39
	Section 1: Safety	. 39
	Section 2: Workers' Compensation	.40
Α	RTICLE XII - POLITICAL ACTIVITY	40
	Section 1: Involvement	.40
	Section 2: Interference with Job.	.40
	Section 3: No Action against Teacher	.40
	Section 4: Election Days	.40
A	RTICLE XIII - EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSING	40
	Section 1: Decision by Superintendent	.40
	Section 2: Teacher Delayed by Weather	.41
	Section 3: Teacher Not Required to Report	
	Section 4: Early Dismissal	.41
A	RTICLE XIV - TEACHER ABSENCE	41
	Section 1: General Provisions	11

2024-2025 American Federation of Teachers Collective Bargaining Agreement Section 2: Sick Leave	41
Section 3: Self-Insured Sick Leave	43
Section 4: Personal Business and Emergency Leave	45
Section 5: Non-cumulative Leave	45
Section 6: Family Leave	47
Section 7: Non-cumulative Leave Without Pay	47
Section 8: Deduction for Unpaid Absences	48
Section 9: Abandonment	48
ARTICLE XV – Compensation	49
Section 1: Schedules	49
Section 2: Salary Adjustments	66
Section 3: Fringe Benefits	67
Section 4: Substitute Teachers	70
Section 5: Class Coverage	70
Section 6: Additional Personnel and Assignments	70
Section 7: Extracurricular Activities	71
ARTICLE XVI - IMPLEMENTATION	74
Section 1: Individual Contracts	74
Section 2: Distribution of Agreement	74
Section 3: Duration	74
Section 4: Conformity to Law-Savings Clause	74
Section 5: Agreement	75
APPENDIX A - OKCPS Stipend Summary Schedule	76
APPENDIX B - Deductions (updated 8/14)	81
APPENDIX C - Alternate Student Placement	81
APPENDIX E – MOU: Substitute Program and Class Coverage	82
APPENDIX F - MOU: Extended Contracts for Emergency Certified Teachers	83
APPENDIX G- MOU: Summer School Compensation	85

ARTICLE I - RECOGNITION

Section 1: The Board hereby recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the following full-time and part-time certified and entry year employees of the Board: bilingual resource teachers, classroom teachers, counselors, consultants, site-based instructional coaches ("IC1"), JROTC instructors, librarians/media specialists, registered nurses (RN), psychologists, psychometrics, reading coaches, speech pathologists, and administrative interns.

A. Teachers on approved leave and certified substitutes shall be covered by the terms and conditions of this Agreement where applicable.

Section 2: The Union recognizes that the Board of Education has the responsibility and authority to manage and direct the operations and activities of the District as authorized by law, provided that such rights and responsibilities shall be exercised by the Board in conformity with the provisions of this Agreement.

A. The Board continues to recognize its ongoing obligation to negotiate on that which affects wages, benefits, hours, and terms of employment during the term of this Agreement.

Section 3: The Union has sole and exclusive right to represent the members of the bargaining unit for negotiations and to represent the members of the bargaining unit in administering, implementing, interpreting, and enforcing this Agreement.

Section 4: Teachers or groups of teachers represented by the Union shall not bargain individually or collectively with the Board concerning any terms or provisions of the Negotiated Agreement except through the duly elected Union negotiation representatives in regular negotiation sessions.

Section 5: The Board and the Union shall abide by all applicable state and federal statutes, rules and regulations with respect to this Agreement.

Section 6: This Agreement shall not abrogate the legal rights, obligations, and powers of the Board, including the Board's right to make policy.

- A. The exercise of these legal rights, obligations, and powers by the Board and the adoption of such rules, regulations, and policies as it may deem necessary shall be limited by the specific terms of the ratified Agreement.
- B. The Board agrees to bargain with the Union on items as prescribed in 70 O.S. § 509.6.

ARTICLE II - DEFINITIONS

- A. Agreement This contract, a direct result of collective bargaining, duly ratified and signed by the Union and the Board.
- B. "Career" teacher is a teacher who:
 - 1. is employed by a school district prior to the 2024-2025 school year and has completed three (3) or more consecutive complete school years as a teacher in one school district under a written continuing

- or temporary teaching contract, or
- 2. is employed for the first time by a school district under a written continuing or temporary teaching contract during the 2024-2025 school year and thereafter:
 - a) has completed three (3) consecutive complete school years as a teacher in one school district under a written continuing or temporary teaching contract and has achieved a district evaluation rating of "superior" as measured pursuant to the TLE as set forth in 70 O.S. § 6-101.3 for at least two (2) of the three (3) school years,
 - b) has completed four (4) consecutive complete school years as a teacher in one school district under a written continuing or temporary teaching contract, has averaged a district evaluation rating of at least "effective" as measured pursuant to the TLE for the four-year period, and has received district evaluation ratings of at least "effective" for the last two (2) years of the four-year period, or
 - c) has completed four (4) or more consecutive complete school years in one school district under a written continuing or temporary teaching contract and has not met the requirements of subparagraph a or b of this paragraph, only if the principal of the school at which the teacher is employed submits a petition to the superintendent of the school district requesting that the teacher be granted career status, the superintendent agrees with the petition, and the school district board of education approves the petition. The principal shall specify in the petition the underlying facts supporting the granting of career status to the teacher.
- C. "Probationary" teacher is a teacher who:
 - is employed by a school district prior to the 2024-2025 school year and has completed fewer than three (3) consecutive complete school years as a teacher in one school district under a written teaching contract, or
 - is employed for the first time by a school district under a written teaching contract during the 2024-2025 school year and thereafter and has not met the requirements for career teacher as provided in 70 O.S. sec. 6-101.3.
- D. Days Workdays of the teacher. Outside of the regular contract year of the teacher, "days" shall mean Monday through Friday except when all school offices are closed.
- E. Grade Level Preschool, Kindergarten through 5th grades, 6th through 8th grades, and 9th through 12th grades.
- F. Immediate Supervisor Principal or other persons to whom teachers are directly responsible.
- G. Meet and Consult A meaningful discussion held prior to making a decision at which one party seeks the advice of the other. The process of meeting and consulting does not necessarily imply that the advice and counsel of the parties is reflected in a final decision, only that proper weight and consideration has been given to same.
- H. Union Oklahoma City AFT, Local 2309, American Federation of Teachers, AFL CIO.
- I. Union Representative Any member of the bargaining unit so designated by the Union President or other person with a letter identifying the bearer by name and signed by the Union President.
- J. Site Waiver A site waiver is a request by an individual school for a variance of contract language to

implement experimental or innovative programs and/or to reorganize the school in an effort to improve the education of students.

ARTICLE III - FAIR PRACTICES

Section 1: The Board and the Union agree that they will not interfere with the right of any teacher to affiliate or not affiliate with the Union.

Section 2: The Board and the Union shall abide by all applicable state and federal laws and regulations pertaining to nondiscrimination practices. Since employees have recourse at District level through the nondiscrimination reporting procedure, this section will not be subject to the grievance procedure. When utilizing this procedure, teachers shall have the right to be represented by a person of their own choosing in the same manner as provided in the grievance procedure.

Section 3: The Board agrees that application for transfer forms and/or interviews of employees shall contain no reference to the employee's membership or prospective membership in any employee organization.

ARTICLE IV - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 1: Definitions

- A. A grievance is a complaint by a teacher that there has been an alleged violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of the provisions of this Agreement which has affected that teacher.
- B. As used in this Article, the term "grievant" shall mean either an individual teacher or a group of teachers having the same complaint.
 - Whenever one or more teachers allege there has been a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication
 of the provisions of this Agreement which has affected those teachers and which has arisen out of the
 same transaction or occurrence, the grievances filed shall be presented by one grievant and rulings on
 the grievance at each level shall be binding on all persons who grieved.
- C. The term "days" shall mean workdays of the teacher. Outside of the regular contract year of the teacher, "days" shall mean Monday through Friday except when all school offices are closed.

Section 2: Procedures for Filing a Grievance

A. Informal Resolution

- A teacher with a grievance may first discuss it with the immediate supervisor prior to filing of a Level
 One Grievance, indicating the article, section, and paragraph alleged to be violated, with the objective
 of resolving the matter informally. No written record will be made. While not required, the District and
 the Union encourage informal resolution whenever possible as the goal of the process is to resolve
 issues at the lowest level.
- B. Formal Resolution Level One
 - The grievant shall submit a written grievance to the immediate supervisor within ten (10) days of the alleged violation with a citation of the specific article, section, and paragraph of this Agreement alleged to have been violated and the specific remedy sought.

- 2. The immediate supervisor shall schedule and hold a meeting within five (5) days after receipt of the written grievance. Persons present at this meeting will be the grievant, and if the grievant so desires, a representative of the grievant's choosing, and the immediate supervisor, and if the immediate supervisor so desires, a person of the immediate supervisor's choosing.
 - a) If the Union is not the representative of the grievant, a Union representative shall have the right to be present at this meeting and shall be permitted to present the Union's views with respect to the grievance if requested by the immediate supervisor, but in any event, the Union representative within two (2) days after attending the meeting may submit the Union's views with respect to the grievance to the immediate supervisor in writing.
 - b) The District and the Union favor informal resolution as long as it is consistent with the terms and timelines of this Agreement. Nothing in this procedure is intended to prevent or limit the informal resolution of grievances at a time up to the deadline for the immediate supervisor's response at Level One.
- 3. The immediate supervisor shall transmit to the grievant(s) and the Union the written decision and reason within five (5) days after the Level One meeting.
- 4. The immediate supervisor shall not transmit the decision before having received and considered the Union's response as provided in Section 2(a) above.

C. Formal Resolution - Level Two

- 1. If the grievant is not satisfied with the Level One decision, the grievant may submit a written appeal of the grievance to the Superintendent within five (5) days after receipt of the Level One decision. A copy of the original grievance and the Level One response shall be filed with the appeal. A copy of the appeal shall be forwarded to the immediate supervisor rendering the decision at Level One.
- 2. The Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee shall act as a Hearing Officer. A hearing will be scheduled at a mutually agreeable time within ten (10) days after receipt of the appeal. If a mutually agreeable hearing date has not been scheduled, the hearing officer will schedule a hearing date, to be held during the grievant's work day, within five (5) days of the expiration of the ten (10) day period.
 - a) Persons present at this hearing shall be the grievant, a representative of the grievant's choosing, and witnesses; the immediate supervisor who rendered the decision at Level One, a representative of the immediate supervisor's choosing, and witnesses.
 - b) The Hearing Officer shall be free to admit any testimony, evidence or exhibits deemed relevant, or to exclude same, in order to build as complete a record as necessary before rendering a decision.
 - c) The Hearing Officer shall limit the decision to the facts as presented by the parties and the impact on, or conflict with, this Agreement.
 - d) If the Union is not the representative of the grievant, a Union representative shall have the right to be present at this hearing and shall be permitted to present the Union's views with respect to the grievance within two (2) days of the conclusion of the hearing.
 - 1) The Union must advise the Hearing Officer if it intends to submit the Union's views with respect to the grievance.
 - e) The order of presentation of a Level Two hearing shall be as follows except that the Hearing Officer

may dismiss the proceeding when the grievance is untimely filed: opening statements, presentation of documentary evidence, calling of witnesses, questioning of witnesses, cross-examination of witnesses, and redirect, and, closing statements by both the grievant/representative and the respondent/representative.

- 1) Either party involved may waive any part(s) of its presentation.
- 2) If the testimony of witnesses is not relevant or becomes redundant and is not needed to build as complete a record as necessary for the rendering of a decision, the Hearing Officer will direct the parties to proceed to the next step of the presentation.
- 3) The Hearing Officer shall be responsible for maintaining order during the hearing.
- f) Within five (5) days after the hearing, the Hearing Officer shall transmit the decision in writing with written reasons thereof to the grievant; the grievant's immediate supervisor, and the Union as well as the Human Resources department and/or legal representative of the administration.
 - 1) The Hearing Officer shall not transmit the decision before having received and considered the Union's response.

D. Formal Resolution - Level Three

- In the event a grievance filed at Level Three is not resolved under the above procedures in Level One
 and Two, the Union may submit the grievance to arbitration within five (5) school days after receipt
 by the grievant and the Union of the Level Two written decision. Requests by the Union for arbitration
 shall be in writing to the Superintendent, and subject to the procedures and provisions as set forth
 below.
- 2. Within five (5) days of the arbitration demand, the parties shall request the American Arbitration Association or the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service to furnish one (1) panel of arbitrators from which a selection shall be made pursuant to its rules and procedures. The parties shall join in the execution of such requests.
 - a) Within five (5) days of receipt of the list of seven (7) arbitrators, the Union and a representative from the Board shall meet to strike the names of six (6) prospective arbitrators from the list. The selection of which party is to be the first to strike a name shall be determined by the flip of a coin. The parties shall alternate striking names, until only one name remains. The remaining name on the list shall be the individual who will conduct the arbitration.
 - b) The Human Resources Department and the Union shall notify the agency providing the list within two (2) days of the selection of the arbitrator. The agency shall notify the arbitrator of the selection.
 - c) The arbitrator will notify the parties of the available dates to schedule the hearing.
- 3. The arbitrator shall hold a hearing within twenty (20) calendar days of appointment. Five (5) calendar days' notice will be given to all parties of the time and place of the hearing. The arbitrator shall issue the decision not later than thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the closing of the hearings. The decision shall be in writing and shall set forth the arbitrator's opinion and conclusions on the issues submitted.
- 4. The arbitrator's function is to interpret the provisions of the Agreement and to decide cases of alleged

violation of such provisions. The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, delete from, or modify in any way the provisions of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have the power to make compensatory awards, where necessary, to implement the decision.

- a) Compensatory awards are defined as restitution of wages and/or benefits to which teachers would have been entitled had the violation of their rights under the provisions of this Agreement not occurred.
- 5. Teachers protected by the provisions of the Teachers Due Process Act of 1990 (codified at 70 O.S. §§ 6-101.20 et. seq.) may not utilize the arbitration procedures for actions of suspension and dismissal.
- 6. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final unless appealed by either party to Level Four.
- 7. Fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties.

E. Formal Resolution - Level Four

- 1. If either party is not satisfied with the decision of the arbitrator, that party may submit a written appeal to the Clerk of the Board of Education within five (5) days after receipt of the arbitrator's decision.
- 2. The arbitrator's decision shall appear as an agenda item for consideration and deliberation at the next regular meeting of the Board of Education following the receipt of the written recommendations of the arbitrator. Arbitrator's recommendations received less than ten (10) days before a regularly scheduled meeting shall be scheduled for the succeeding meeting or for a special meeting to hear the appeal.
- 3. Only the arbitrator's findings of fact and conclusions, along with written evidence presented to the arbitrator may be submitted to the Board of Education for consideration and deliberation.
- 4. The items listed in the preceding paragraph shall be the sole evidence utilized by the Board of Education in making its decision at this level. Neither party shall make an oral argument before the Board at Level Four. After consideration and deliberation of the arbitrator's decision in open session, the Board shall render a decision to sustain or overrule the decision of the arbitrator.

Section 3: General Provisions

- A. If the grievance arises from the action of an authority higher than the immediate supervisor, the grievant may present such grievance at Level Two of this procedure.
- B. Failure at Level One to communicate the decision on a grievance or at Level Two to timely hold a hearing or communicate the decision on a grievance or failure of the respondent to attend the scheduled hearing shall permit the grievant to submit an appeal.
- C. Any untimely appeal of a decision or failure of the grievant to attend a hearing shall result in the grievance being deemed resolved by the determination at the previous level.
- D. Any written notice referred to in previous sections may be given by hand to the person designated to receive such notices, delivered by certified U.S. Mail Services, or sent via email. Receipt will be mailed, emailed or presented to the deliverer.
 - 1. If a notice or decision in the formal procedure is given to the teacher by certified mail, the time in which the teacher may give notice of appeal shall be increased by two (2) days.
- E. Persons proper to be present and participate in hearings for the purpose of this article are the grievant,

the grievant's witnesses and representatives, respondent, respondent's representatives and witnesses, and the Union, except as otherwise noted.

- 1. When hearings are held during school hours, persons proper to be present shall be excused without loss of pay or accumulated leave.
- 2. The Hearing Officer at Level Two shall exclude witnesses from the hearing room until their testimony is required.
- 3. The Hearing Officer at Level Two may exclude or limit observers at the hearing.
 - a) At the hearing, there shall be a limit of three (3) observers from each side. Either side may request additional observers and they shall be admitted by mutual consent.
 - b) At the request of the grievant/representative or the respondent/representative, the Hearing Officer shall rule on excluding any observer(s) in order to maintain an atmosphere conducive to a fair and impartial hearing.
- F. No reprisals shall be taken by any party in interest in the Agreement against any grievant, any other party in interest, or any other participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.
- H. In the event that a grievance is initiated so close to the end of the school year that it would preclude the use of time lines in this Agreement for holding a meeting or hearing, at the teacher's request the following expedited procedure shall be followed after May 1.
 - 1. Alleged violations involving the following areas of this Agreement may be expedited:
 - a) Administrative-initiated transfers
 - b) Extracurricular assignments
 - c) In-building assignments
 - d) Teaching stations
 - 2. All Level One and Two timelines will be shortened to two (2) days.
 - At the teacher's request, Level One and Two hearings shall be held while the principals are still on contract.
 - 4. Teachers choosing not to utilize this expedited process shall follow the regular procedures and time lines contained elsewhere in this Article.
- I. At the teacher's request the following expedited procedure shall be followed during the first two (2) weeks of the teacher's work year.
 - 1. Alleged violations involving the following areas of this Agreement may be expedited:
 - a) Administrative-initiated transfers
 - b) Extracurricular assignments
 - c) In-building assignments
 - d) Teaching stations
 - 2. All Level One and Two timelines will be shortened to two (2) days.
 - 3. Teachers choosing not to utilize this expedited process shall follow the regular procedures and time lines contained elsewhere in this Article.
- J. Grievances shall not be placed in the grievant's personnel files nor shall they be utilized in the promotion process or any recommendation for job placement.

- K. The respondent and the grievant are responsible for the payment of their own representative and witness involved in any formal grievance hearing.
- L. The time, date, and place for a meeting or hearing at all levels within the prescribed time limit, shall be set by the appropriate administrator.
 - 1. If such meeting is held before or after the affected teacher's workday, the time shall be by mutual agreement of the parties.
 - 2. Any notice to be given by a teacher under the provision of Section 2 of this article may be given for the teacher by the Union or the grievant's representative with the teacher's consent.
- M. Request for changes in any time limits and meeting times shall be made in writing. If such a request is made, the parties shall, by mutual agreement, establish the rescheduled hearing date and time.
- N. Necessary forms for the filing of grievances shall be mutually agreed to by the Union and the Board and be made available in the office of the immediate supervisor in every school. The format of the grievance forms shall include but not be limited to the following information: name of grievant involved, statement of facts giving rise to the grievance, alleged violation of the Agreement identified by the appropriate reference provisions in the Agreement, the contention of the grievant, specific relief requested and the name of the grievant's representative.
- O. The extent of testimony and evidence presented at any level of the grievance procedure shall be limited to the specific provision(s) of the Agreement alleged to have been violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied with respect to the grievant in the original complaint.
- P. In the event a grievance is filed and the Union is not the grievant's representative, the Union shall be notified of all meetings, hearings, dates, times, and places by the appropriate administrator as soon as possible.
- Q. Procedures governing the conduct of Level One and Level Two hearings shall be in writing and distributed to all immediate supervisors and work site leaders.
- R. The hearing officer at Level Two shall not be the respondent or the respondent's representative at the Level Three hearing.
- S. In the event of a grievance to be filed against an administrative intern, the building administrator shall be named as the respondent.
- T. Should an attorney be invited by the teacher and/or the union, then an attorney for the District shall be invited and required to attend.
- U. The Union shall have the right to file grievances only on the provisions of the following articles as pertaining to the Union: Article I, Recognition, Sections 1, 2, 2 A, 3, 4, 5, and 6 B; Article II, Definitions; Article III, Fair Practices, Sections 1, 2, and 3; Article IV, Grievance Procedure, Section 2 B 2 a, Section 2 B 3, and 3 a, Section 2 C 2 d, Section 2 D 2 a, Section 3, E, F, M, N, P, and R; Article V, Union Activities; Article VI, General Conditions of Employment, Section 4 B and C, Section 6 M, Section 7 B and C, Section 13 and Section 15 C and F; Article VIII, Teachers' Rights, Section 4 A 1 b; Article XV, Compensation, Section 3 A 1 and 1a; Article XVI, Implementation. Such grievances shall be filed at Level Two.

ARTICLE V - UNION ACTIVITIES

Section 1: Leave for Union Service

- A. Upon written request by the teacher and the president of the Union and upon Board approval with definitive beginning and end dates, a maximum of five (5) teachers shall be granted full time leave of absence without pay on an annual basis to work for the Union as union representatives of the bargaining unit.
- B. Upon returning to work from leave without pay, upon request, the teacher shall be placed in the same assignment the teacher held prior to taking leave of absence if the appropriate vacancy exists or if a similar vacancy in the same building or another building exists.
- C. The teacher taking leave of absence for Union service shall not lose professional nor financial status upon taking the leave of absence which will be maintained at the same status until the teacher's return.
- D. Cumulative leave time will not accrue nor will accumulated leave time be lost.

Section 2: Bulletin Boards

- A. The Board shall make available for exclusive use of the Union at least one (1) bulletin board, a minimum of eight (8) square feet located in each faculty lounge at each school for the posting of official Union material properly identified as such. If no bulletin board presently exists in a faculty lounge for the posting of such notices, a bulletin board shall be made available in an area to which all teachers have ready access as determined by mutual agreement between the Union Worksite Leader and the immediate supervisor.
 - 1. The Union Worksite Leader in each school shall be responsible for posting and removal of official Union notices properly identified as such.
 - Such materials posted by the Union Worksite Leaders shall not suggest, urge, or propose any action
 by a teacher or groups of teachers to violate, ignore, or resist any terms of this Agreement or any
 written Board policies or administrative regulations and directives of the Superintendent.
 - a) Board policies, administrative regulations and directives of the Superintendent shall not violate any term of this Agreement.

Section 3: Union Meetings in District-Owned Facilities

- A. District-wide or district-geographical area meetings or meetings of special groups of teachers may be conducted in district-owned buildings provided prior arrangements have been made through the district's facility use process.
 - 1. Union meetings in an individual school for teachers of that school which do not necessitate additional district-provided services may be held with advance verbal approval of the immediate supervisor.
- B. The immediate supervisor or other administrator of the school in which the meeting is being held shall not schedule any activity or program which will interfere with the conduct of said Union meeting once the meeting has been formally scheduled, except in emergencies.
- C. Union meetings in schools may be conducted prior to the teachers' workday or after the student day. Teachers shall have the right to attend such meetings after completing assigned duties and professional obligations.

- D. Such meetings will not be utilized to urge, suggest, or propose any work stoppage, work slowdown, or suspension of work.
- E. The day for regular Union meetings shall be the second Thursday of each month. District and/or building meetings involving teachers shall not be scheduled on this day except in emergencies.
 - 1. Emergencies are those occurrences which threaten the health and safety of students and/or staff or situations which require immediate action as directed by the Superintendent.
- F. After completing assigned duties, teachers may be dismissed at the end of the student day for district-wide meetings. Such approval must be given by the Superintendent.
- G. Union officers and one (1) Union Worksite Leader from each building shall be released at the end of the last regularly scheduled class period to attend regularly scheduled Union meetings, except in emergencies and so long as there is no conflict with scheduled staff meetings. Names of Union officers and Union Worksite Leaders assigned to a school shall be provided to the immediate supervisor of that school by the Union by September 15th of each school year or within seven (7) days after a change.

Section 4: School Visitation by Union Representatives

- A. Union representatives may visit schools for the purpose of conducting Union business. Upon arrival at the school, the Union representatives shall notify the office of the immediate supervisor. Union visitors will wear a District visitor's badge while visiting schools.
 - 1. School visitation during the student day with (a) Union representative(s) and a teacher or teachers shall be held in the following areas: teachers' lounge, cafeteria, other common areas, or a classroom where students are not in attendance.
 - 2. Teachers shall not be disturbed or interrupted while their classes are in session or be hindered in the process of fulfilling their assigned duties.

Section 5: Availability of Information

- A. The Board shall make available to the Union at no cost, upon written request from the President, any information subject to the Open Records Act necessary for administering this Agreement.
- B. A copy of written reports distributed by the Superintendent and/or the Superintendent's staff to the press shall be made available to representatives of the Union, upon request, at no cost.
- C. The District's administration shall, when appropriate and in the best interest of teachers, provide the Union with a copy of Central Office administrative memos that impact the bargaining unit.

Section 6: Teacher Rosters

- A. Human Resources shall make available to the Union a list of teachers containing their job titles, building assignments, district-issued email addresses, home addresses, and phone numbers except that phone numbers and/or addresses may be withheld for any teacher who has requested in writing to Human Resources that such information not be made public.
 - 1. Such lists shall be made available to the Union without charge twice a year when requested in writing twenty-four (24) hours in advance.
- B. Class schedules for all teachers shall be given to the Union's Worksite Leader at each school at the

beginning of each semester.

C. Human Resources shall provide to the Union: names, job assignments, and work sites of all resident teachers as soon as possible.

Section 7: Payroll Deductions

- A. Upon receiving a signed authorization form from individual teachers, at no cost to the teacher, payroll deductions will be made for Union dues (subject to state law limitations as stated in Regulation C-10-R1), political contributions, health insurance, and two (2) computer payroll slots shall be made available for other approved Union insurance programs. If available, one (1) additional computer payroll slot will be allocated for use for other approved Union insurance programs.
- B. All written requests shall be delivered to the Payroll Department. Verification of the receipt of the requests for deductions shall be made upon a list of names accompanying the request.
- C. It shall be the responsibility of the teacher to determine, if in fact, that the deductions are being made as requested.
- D. The Board will provide lists of individuals and amounts withheld for Union dues and political contributions on a monthly basis.
- E. Notice of deduction cancellations of Union dues and/or political contributions shall be given to the Union as soon as possible after such cancellations.
- F. The Union shall indemnify and hold harmless the Board of Education for any claims, demands, suits, or other forms of liability (including specifically costs and attorney fees) attributable to the Union that shall arise out of the collection of Union dues, political contributions, and insurance.

Section 8: Board Agenda and Minutes

- A. The Board shall make available copies of the official agenda and minutes of the previous meeting to the Union at the same time such copies are made available to the Superintendent's staff.
- B. A copy of the minutes of Board meetings shall be posted on the District's website.

Section 9: Representation on Committees

- A. The Union shall furnish a list of eligible teachers from the appropriate grade level(s) or subject areas who meet the criteria established by the Board to serve on each committee or other organized group that requires teacher participation and representation.
 - 1. This list will be provided to the appropriate administrator within seven (7) days after the written request is received by the Union.
 - a) The written request will include the criteria and the number of teachers needed for the committee.
 - Failure of the Union to provide the number of teachers needed to serve on the committee within seven
 days after the written request shall permit the appropriate administrator to designate other teachers to serve.
- B. Teachers who accept such appointments will be released to attend committee meetings that are scheduled during the workday at no loss of pay or accumulated leave after the approval of such request by Human Resources. Teachers, if possible, will devote time beyond the regular student day in order to serve on such

committees.

Section 10: Announcements at Faculty Meetings

A. At the request of the Union Worksite Leader, the immediate supervisor shall call upon the representative to make announcements during a scheduled faculty meeting.

Section 11: Meetings with Immediate Supervisor

A. Meetings between the Union Worksite Leader(s) and the immediate supervisor shall be held at the immediate supervisor's request or the Union Worksite Leader's request at a mutually agreed upon time to discuss the enforcement, interpretation, administration, and implementation of the terms of this Agreement.

Section 12: Leave for Conventions, Conferences, and Meetings

- A. Leaves of absence limited to not more than a total of eighty (80) teaching days per year may be granted without loss of pay or charged against accumulated leave to attend Union related conventions, conferences, and meetings upon approval of the Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee.
 - 1. The request for leave shall state the date(s), location, and name of the convention, conference, or meeting.
 - 2. For days approved beyond eighty (80) days, the union shall pay the cost of the substitute.
 - a) If a substitute is hired, the union shall pay the actual cost of the substitute. If a substitute is not hired, the union shall pay the cost of a non-certified substitute.

Section 13: Teacher Orientation

- A. When a new-teacher orientation is held at the beginning of the school year, the Union will be provided time on the agenda.
 - 1. This time will not be used to discuss or distribute membership information.

Section 14: Union Electronic Mail Communication

- A. The Union and members of the Bargaining Unit shall have access to the District electronic mail system for communication purposes.
 - Such communication shall not suggest, urge, or propose any action by a teacher or groups of teachers
 to violate, ignore, or resist any terms of this Agreement or any written Board policies or administrative
 regulations and directives of the Superintendent.
 - 2. Political campaign material other than that directly related to the internal politics of the Union or its affiliates may not be transmitted by the Union.
- B. The District shall provide the Union with electronic mail addresses, updated monthly, for all members of the Bargaining Unit.
- C. Individual teachers shall have the right to be removed from Union electronic mail correspondence. Said notification shall be in writing to the Union and the District.
- D. Teachers shall not interrupt their classroom instruction through the use of electronic communication with

the Union.

Section 15: Union School Mail Communication

- A. The Union, as the officially elected bargaining agent, shall have access to the District school mail system to provide information related to the current business of the District to members of the bargaining unit, up to four (4) times per month.
 - 1. Such communication shall not suggest, urge, or propose any action by a teacher or groups of teachers to violate, ignore, or resist any terms of this Agreement or any written Board policies or administrative regulations and directives of the Superintendent.
 - 2. Political campaign material may not be mailed through the school mail system.
 - 3. Union mail shall be addressed to the Union Worksite Leader who will be responsible for distribution.
 - 4. The Union shall provide a copy of the information to be mailed to the Superintendent's designee for review and approval at least two (2) days prior to the scheduled mailing date.
 - 5. The Union shall reimburse the District for any additional costs that may be associated with the use of District school mail.

ARTICLE VI - GENERAL CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

Section 1: Fair Employment Practices

- A. The Board shall abide by all applicable state and federal statutes, rules and regulations relating to employment of teachers.
- B. The Board shall abide by all applicable state and federal statutes, rules and regulations relating to the dismissal of teachers.

Section 2: Calendar

- A. The school calendar shall consist of one hundred seventy-three (173) instructional days plus eight (8) days consisting of the following: five (5) days preschool consisting of three (3) professional development days (Online training required by the District will be made available prior to the teachers' first work day) and two (2) teacher work days which will occur before the start of school and be set aside in all schools for class preparation [one (1) day in October for professional development; one (1) day during the second semester for professional development; and one (1) day at the end of the second semester for record keeping].
 - 1. Two (2) days for district-wide teacher-parent conferences shall be scheduled during the 173 instructional days, prior to the fourth quarter, in accordance with Section 10 of this article.
 - A classroom teacher who is hired after the beginning of the contract year shall be provided with one
 (1) day for class preparation. If necessary, the District will provide a substitute for any students assigned to such teachers.
 - Any additional District teacher work days incorporated into the one hundred seventy-three (173)
 instructional days may be used for professional development for those teachers who were unavailable
 on pre-school professional development days.
 - 4. Teachers will be provided with the equivalent of four hours of contract time for working towards completion of state-mandated online compliance courses. School leaders will designate this time,

which may occur during the district professional learning days, in place of weekly staff meetings, or a combination of both. Teachers are responsible for completing all state-mandated compliance courses each year by district-established deadlines, regardless of whether they are able to complete them within the time provided. Based on federal mandates, additional compliance-based professional learning may be required, and may require adherence to different completion deadlines and/or completion outside the designated professional learning time provided.

Section 3: Teaching Assignments and Duties

A. In-Building Assignments

- 1. Teacher assignments in a building shall be made by the immediate supervisor.
 - a) With the exception of instances when a teacher has been placed in charge of a school in the absence of the immediate supervisor, no teacher shall make teaching assignments or supervise other teachers.
 - b) Fully credentialed administrative interns may evaluate teaching staff.
- 2. Teachers will be assigned within the scope of their certification as prescribed by applicable State Department Policies and Regulations.
- 3. Teachers will not be required to conduct classes in more than one (1) room if sufficient classroom spaces designed for the teacher's particular instructional area are not utilized for any regularly scheduled instructional program during the school week and utilization of the rooms does not impose any excessive additional costs for operation and maintenance.
- 4. Teachers shall be notified by May 1, of their tentative teaching assignment(s) and teaching station(s) for the coming year.
 - a) If the teaching assignment and/or teaching station(s) is/are different from the current teaching assignment and/or teaching station(s) or if a change is necessary after May 1, a conference with the teacher shall be held concerning the change, and if requested by the teacher, the reasons for the change shall be given in writing within two (2) days of the conference.
 - 1) If a change is made when school is not in session and the teacher is not available, the immediate supervisor will notify the teacher by certified mail as soon as possible.
 - b) A teacher so notified who desires a conference shall, upon written request, be assured of a conference at a time mutually agreed upon by the teacher and immediate supervisor.
- 5. The determination of the in-building assignments shall be based on qualifications.
 - a) Such qualifications shall include: student needs, as supported by achievement data, certification, educational training, and experience.
 - b) Seniority shall be used to determine in-building assignments when qualifications are equal.
- A teacher may request a change in an in-building assignment for the following year, stating in writing the reasons for such request to the immediate supervisor.
 - a) If a teacher's request with regard to the assignment is denied, the teacher may request and shall be granted a conference with the immediate supervisor to discuss the assignment, and if requested by the teacher the reasons for the change shall be given in writing within two (2) days

of the conference.

B. Traveling Teachers

- 1. Teachers assigned to more than one (1) school shall select one (1) of their assigned schools as their pay-site at the beginning of the school year.
 - a) With the agreement of the parties involved and approval of the immediate supervisor(s), teachers shall have the right to change teaching assignments with other teachers if such request is made before the end of preschool week.
 - b) Assignments to more than one (1) school on a given day shall be made to minimize interschool travel.
 - c) Travel time for teachers assigned to more than one (1) school shall not be considered as lunch time or planning time.
 - d) Teachers will indicate their presence and departure in each assigned building in the same manner as other teachers.
 - e) Full-time teachers who must travel from one (1) school to another as part of their basic assignment shall arrive at and leave from the building on the same schedule as other teachers working a full seven-hour duty day, but shall not exceed seven (7) duty hours.
 - f) Teachers assigned to more than one (1) school and whose assignments require them to move from one (1) school to another in a single day and those teachers responsible for the job placement and supervision of students within the community shall be reimbursed for mileage as provided in the article on compensation of this Agreement.
 - g) Prior to the beginning of instruction, fine arts and physical education teachers assigned to more than one (1) school shall be provided one (1) day of class preparation time without students at each assigned school.

C. Extracurricular Activities and Other Assignments

- 1. Teachers may express their preferences in selecting extracurricular assignments.
 - a) If a teacher prefers a particular extracurricular assignment for the ensuing school year, that preference shall be expressed in writing on a standardized form to the immediate supervisor by April 15th.
 - b) The immediate supervisor shall:
 - Post all extracurricular positions except JROTC, Athletic Coaches, LTE (Lead Technology Educators) and Vocal Music, Band, Orchestra, Drama & Dance teachers, and the amount of compensation for each position by April 1.
 - 2) Make standardized application forms available to teachers.
 - 3) Consider all written applications, which were submitted by April 15.
 - 4) Select the best qualified teachers for extracurricular assignments.
 - 5) Notify all applicants by posting the assignments on or before May 15th in an area where all teachers have ready access.
 - c) Teachers new to the building for the ensuing school year may request in writing and be considered for any unfilled extracurricular assignment.

d) Extracurricular assignments designated for compensation shall be paid according to the schedule provided for in this Agreement.

2. Athletic Coaching Assignments

- a) Coaching positions shall be posted and the incumbent notified when the position becomes vacant.

 A position may be filled after having been posted on the District's vacancy list for one (1) week.
- b) The District athletic director and the immediate supervisor shall consider all written applications for coaching positions and select the best qualified coaches for coaching assignments.
- c) Coaching assignments designated for compensation shall be paid according to the schedule provided for in this Agreement.
- d) If a teacher prefers a coaching assignment, that preference shall be expressed in writing on the standardized application form to the immediate supervisor.
- Resident teachers shall be assigned a mentor teacher according to Sections 18 and 180.2, School Laws
 of Oklahoma, 2002, and the regulations and guidelines as established by the State Department of
 Education.
 - a) Acceptance of a mentor teacher position shall be voluntary.
- 4. The immediate supervisor may request that a teacher serve as a cooperating teacher for a student teacher.
 - a) Such acceptance of a student teacher shall be voluntary on the part of the individual teacher.

D. Duties

- 1. The immediate supervisor shall meet and consult with the Faculty Advisory Committee with regard to the establishment of a duty schedule.
 - a) Such duties shall be equitably distributed among regular teachers assigned to the school.
 - b) The immediate supervisor shall distribute a copy of the building duty schedule to each teacher.
- Teachers shall not be required to complete any reports, records, or documents specifically required to
 be completed by the teachers' immediate supervisor(s) but shall provide the immediate supervisor or
 other administrator information according to the required format necessary to complete the report.
 - a) The immediate supervisor shall make every effort to avoid requesting from the teacher information which is readily obtainable at the Central Office or already available in the office of the immediate supervisor.
- 3. Teachers will only be required to distribute materials which are related to the activities of, information to, or needs of the child, the parent, or the District.
 - a) If the individual teacher believes the materials to be distributed do not meet the above criteria, the teacher shall discuss it with the immediate supervisor.
 - b) After discussing the material with the immediate supervisor, if the teacher believes the material does not meet the stated criteria, the teacher may appeal to the Superintendent or his/her designee.
 - c) If after distributing such material the individual teacher still considers that the material does not meet the above criteria, the teacher may utilize the grievance procedure.

4. The immediate supervisor shall consult with the teacher prior to the evaluation of an assistant or clerk assigned to assist that teacher.

E. Student Evaluation and Retention

- 1. It shall be the teacher's responsibility to contact parents as soon as the teacher determines that a student is doing unsatisfactory work.
 - a) If unsatisfactory notices are to be mailed, postage shall be at District expense.
- 2. Evaluating and authenticating students' progress by appropriate grades shall be the responsibility of the teacher.
 - a) Recording of grades and the reporting of student progress shall follow established District policies and procedures.
 - b) Teachers shall receive grade cards at least one (1) day prior to the end of the quarter.
 - 1) Teachers shall not complete grade cards during instructional time.
 - 2) Following the first (1st) and third (3rd) quarter grading periods, teachers shall be allowed two (2) days to complete grade cards.
 - 3) Following the second (2) quarter grading period, teachers shall be allowed four (4) days to complete grade cards. (8/9/2012)
 - 4) In secondary schools, at the conclusion of the fourth (4th) quarter, teachers shall be allowed one (1) day to complete grade cards.
 - 5) In elementary schools, grade cards shall be completed and distributed on the last student day of the school year.
 - c) Upon request of a student, parent, or the immediate supervisor, the teacher shall interpret the method used and/or the basis for making the determination of a student's grade or grades.
 - d) When a student is recommended for retention and the evaluation team concurs with that recommendation in accordance with District policy and administrative regulations, the student shall be retained for the ensuing year unless the parent's appeal is upheld.
 - 1) Information regarding an appeal decision shall be available to teachers in the office of the immediate supervisor.
 - 2) An elementary student so retained shall be assigned to a different teacher(s), if possible, for the ensuing year unless the retaining teacher(s) requests the reassignment of that student.
- 3. Without prior notification to the teacher, mistakes or errors in grades or unsubstantiated grades may be corrected by the immediate supervisor.
 - a) Mistakes or errors shall be defined as incorrect averaging or mismarked cards. Unsubstantiated grades are those not supported by at least weekly grades and a clear, written explanation of the method and basis for determination of the grades.
 - b) When grades are changed, the immediate supervisor shall notify the teacher of the change.

F. Miscellaneous

1. The Board and the Union recognize the importance of attendance at many school-sponsored activities such as open house, secondary graduation, and a reasonable number of parent nights (i.e. any events

- at which parents are encouraged to attend and participate in the event); and therefore, jointly expect teachers to attend these functions.
- 2. Assignment of members of the same immediate family to the same school or directly responsible to the same immediate supervisor shall be made only as a special exception by the Superintendent.

Section 4: Seniority

- A. Seniority shall be defined as the unbroken service as a teacher in the District.
 - 1. Teachers employed as less than full-time teachers accrue seniority in proportion to the amount of time employed.
- B. Any teacher on approved leave shall retain seniority rights, but seniority shall not accrue during that time except in the case of paid leave or Union leave as provided for in Article V, Union Activities, Section 1, Leave for Union Service.
- C. Where a question of seniority is a factor in a dispute, the seniority of the teachers involved shall be made available to them and to the Union.
 - 1. Seniority shall begin to accrue with the first day of employment as a fully-certified teacher. The first day of employment shall mean the teacher's first workday.
 - 2. No approved leave shall be considered a break in service for any reason except when two (2) or more teachers under consideration have equal seniority. A leave will then be considered as a break in service.
 - 3. When seniority is the deciding factor and a tie exists, the following factors shall be compared until the tie is broken:
 - a) Any previous periods of employment in the District.
 - b) Employee birth dates, the older employee being considered the most senior.
- D. The records on file in Human Resources shall be the official and final record for determining seniority.

Section 5: Teacher Transfers and Promotions

A. General Provisions

- 1. A transfer is defined as the movement of a teacher from an assignment in one (1) school to an assignment in another school.
- Vacant positions are posted on the District website as they become available for fill (6/14/10). A
 position may be filled after having been posted for one (1) week.
 - a) Vacancy lists shall set forth specific qualifications and job requirements for promotional vacancies.
 - b) Vacancy lists shall set forth the location and position, and when applicable, specific qualifications and job requirements for teaching vacancies. Job descriptions shall be available in Human Resources.
- 3. Transfers shall be granted to best meet the educational program of the school and to best meet the needs of the students of that school.
- Teachers in the District shall have an opportunity to apply for, and be considered for, vacancies before
 applicants not employed in the District will be considered for any vacancies for the ensuing school
 year.

- a) Certified Substitutes shall have an opportunity to apply and be considered for vacancies before applicants not employed in the District will be considered for any vacancies.
- 5. Teachers interviewed for the prospective transfer shall be notified of the filling of the position.
 - a) The teacher may within two (2) work days, request in writing and shall, within two (2) work days after submitting the written request, receive in writing an explanation as to the reasons the request was not granted.
 - 1) The time period for filing a grievance shall begin upon receipt of the explanation from the immediate supervisor.

B. Temporary Contracts

- 1. All teachers employed by the District may be placed on a Temporary contract for the first four (4) semesters of employment (6/14/10).
- Teachers who are hired to replace a teacher who is on an approved leave of absence and who is
 expected to return to employment with the District, and teachers who are retired members of the
 Teachers' Retirement System of Oklahoma shall be offered a Temporary Contract only (6/14/10).

C. Teacher-Initiated Transfers

- 1. A teacher's request for transfer shall be initiated through the districts applicant tracking system maintained by Human Resources (7/2013).
- 2. A teacher may request a transfer to a specific position for the current school year as soon as a vacancy for which the teacher is certified has been posted.
 - a) Teachers are eligible and shall be considered for transfer during the current school year when:
 - 1) The teacher has completed one year of experience in the District;
 - 2) The teacher is not under an evaluation plan for improvement.
 - b) No more than ten (10) percent of the teachers may be granted a transfer from the same building during a school year. Ten (10) percent shall be no fewer than three (3) teachers.
 - c) When a teacher's request for transfer during the current school year has been granted, the effective date of that transfer shall be within three (3) weeks. However, if a suitable replacement has not been secured, the effective date of the transfer shall be the first day of the ensuing semester. While a suitable replacement is being secured, the position will be held for the teacher who will be receiving the transfer.
 - 1) The effective date may be established at an earlier time by mutual agreement of both immediate supervisors.
 - d) A vacancy created by transfer during the current school year must be filled by a non-transfer applicant who will not be eligible to transfer until the following school year.
- A teacher may request a transfer for a specific position for the ensuing school year as soon as the vacancies are posted.
- 4. A request for a transfer, other than promotional, may be submitted up to five (5) business days after the state statutory deadline for notifying districts of the intent to separate (70 O.S. § 6-101), and the submission period shall not reopen until fifteen (15) calendar days following the first student day of school.

5. The granting of a transfer shall be based upon seniority when individual qualifications are equal. Such qualifications shall include: student needs, certification, educational training, experience, and school related special skills. Consideration shall also be given to affirmative action guidelines of the District.

D. Administrative-Initiated Transfers

- 1. Administrative transfers shall be made for just cause including but not limited to: a reduction in staff due to loss in enrollment, reduction or elimination of programs, loss of funds, failure to meet minimum class size, closing of buildings, program equity, or Title I district comparability requirements (6/14/10).
 - a) Administrative transfer due to the loss of federal funds, resulting in the reduction or elimination of a program should only occur if there are no vacancies at the current site (8/13/12).
- Transfers may be made by administrative initiative during the current school year or for the ensuing school year.
 - 3. When an administrative transfer is necessary due to reduction in staff, the immediate supervisor will consider the educational needs of the students of that school and determine the area of certificate the elementary level and the department at the secondary level where the reduction in staff can best be made.
 - a) After determining the elementary level and/or secondary department where the reduction will occur, the immediate supervisor shall ask for volunteers (8/16/11).
 - 1) Properly certified teachers who volunteer will be transferred first, if the transfer will not adversely affect the program needs and the affirmative action guidelines of the District.
 - a. Properly certified teachers will be those individuals whose certification(s) is/are on District record at the time the reduction decision is determined.
 - 2) In secondary schools, the immediate supervisor may identify for exemption up to four (4) classroom teachers, no more than two (2) from any one department, from being placed on a potential transfer list.
 - 3) In elementary schools, the immediate supervisor may identify for exemption up to two (2) classroom teachers from being placed on a potential transfer list.
 - a) Teachers shall not be placed on the exemption list if it would adversely impact the school's compliance with District affirmative action guidelines.
 - b) The names of the teachers identified for exemption with the reasons for the exemptions will be submitted to the Executive Director of Human Resources review and approval prior to the teachers being notified.
 - c) After applying the exemptions, an administrative transfer will be based on seniority within the identified elementary level or secondary department.
- 4. Notice of transfer for the ensuing school year shall be given to the teacher involved as soon as the decision is made of the need for such transfer, by April 10, if possible. Administrative transfers must have the approval of the Executive Director of Human Resources.
 - a) Any administrative transfer shall be made only after a private conference between the affected teacher and the immediate supervisor. Provided that when buildings are closed or entire staffs are reassigned, group meetings will be held to provide information to affected teachers. Individual

teachers may request and shall be granted a private conference. In this conference, the reasons for the transfer shall be explained and if requested by the teacher, the reasons for the transfer shall be given in writing within two (2) days of the conference.

- 5. Teachers who are to be transferred by administrative initiative may express a preference for existing vacancies for which they are certified.
 - a) For teachers with ten (10) years or more seniority, teaching assignments will be made by Human Resources according to seniority, by ranked teacher preference (one through three), certification, and teacher effectiveness based upon the last three years' evaluation ratings (6/14/10) (4/24/20).
 - b) For teachers with less than ten (10) years of seniority, teaching assignments will be made by Human Resources according to District needs.
- 6. Teachers who have been transferred by administrative initiative shall be allowed to transfer back to their original building if a vacancy occurs for which they are qualified on or before October 15th of the ensuing school year, providing such transfer requests are made in writing to Human Resources.

Section 6: Teacher's Time

A. Teachers assigned to one (1) school as their regular assignment shall report:

<u>Elementary and Middle Schools:</u> 20 minutes before the first regularly scheduled class at that school and may leave 20 minutes after the last regularly scheduled class at that school.

<u>Middle/High Schools and High Schools:</u> 25 minutes before the first regularly scheduled class at that school and may leave 15 minutes after the last regularly scheduled class at that school.

- 1. Teachers assigned to more than one (1) school shall have a workday equivalent in length to the workday of teachers regularly assigned to one (1) school.
 - a) Classroom teachers assigned to more than one (1) school shall have planning time equivalent to classroom teachers assigned to one (1) school.
- B. All teachers shall have at least a weekly average of thirty (30) minutes per day, but not less than twenty-five (25) minutes per day duty-free lunchtime except in emergency situations as determined by the immediate supervisor.
 - 1. Duty-free lunchtime shall be scheduled in addition to planning time.
 - 2. Teachers may leave the building during their duty-free lunch period.
- C. Elementary classroom teachers shall be scheduled for a minimum of two hundred (200) minutes per week with scheduled periods of no less than thirty (30) consecutive-minutes duty-free planning time during the student day.
 - 1. No more than one planning period per week shall be required for group/collaborative planning.
 - 2. The scheduled duty-free planning time shall be exclusive of the duty-free lunch period.
 - 3. Additional planning time above the two hundred (200) minutes minimum per week will be in keeping with state elementary regulations requiring supervised school activities of not less than six (6) hours per day.
- D. Middle school classroom teachers shall be scheduled for a minimum of one (1) complete instructional class period a day as a duty-free planning period exclusive of the duty-free lunch period.

- E. High school classroom teachers except Career Tech teachers who teach Career Tech classes consisting of three (3) two (2) hour classes or two (2) three (3) hour classes and those teachers on extended time block scheduling shall be scheduled for a minimum of fifty-five (55) minutes a day as a duty-free planning period exclusive of the duty-free lunch period.
 - 1. High school classroom teachers on a four class per day block schedule shall be scheduled for a minimum of one (1) complete instructional time block a day as a duty-free planning period, exclusive of the duty-free lunch period.
 - 2. Teachers on extended time-block scheduling shall be scheduled for a minimum of two hundred seventy-five (275) minutes per week over a two (2) week time period for duty-free planning time, none of which shall be scheduled for less than a period of fifty-five (55) consecutive minutes exclusive of the duty-free lunch period.
- F. Planning time may not be available to classroom teachers when a fine arts or physical education teacher assigned to more than one (1) school is using class preparation time as provided in Section 3.B 1(g) above. Teachers shall not receive compensation or compensatory time in this instance.
- G. Teachers shall be permitted to leave the school during their planning time with the immediate supervisor's permission to avail themselves of District and school related community resources.
- H. Additional planning periods may be scheduled for department or team chairpersons based on program needs as determined by the immediate supervisor.
- I. If the District should change the school day for students, the teachers' workday will be changed correspondingly.
- J. If a teacher is required to report to work before or stay after the time specified in A. above on a regular basis exclusive of staff meetings, the teacher shall receive equivalent compensatory time. Such time shall be arranged by mutual agreement of the teacher and immediate supervisor.
- K. All teachers shall attend staff meetings unless excused by the immediate supervisor.
- L. The day for regular staff meetings, not to exceed three (3) per month, shall be designated at the beginning of the school year by the immediate supervisor.
 - 1. The first regularly scheduled staff meeting of each month may be used for professional development activities, not to exceed sixty (60) minutes after the teachers' workday (7/2013 and 7/2014).
 - a) In situations where there is a scheduled election and/or inclement weather, the meeting designated for professional development shall be moved to the following staff meeting (7/2014).
 - 2. The remaining two meetings if used, shall be scheduled for such a length of time as is suitable for dealing with agenda items as established by the immediate supervisor but shall not extend beyond thirty (30) minutes after the end of the teacher's workday.
 - 3. Any individual school identified by the State Department of Education as a school improvement site has the option of once a month extending the school day for professional development training up to 1.5 hours. The teachers shall be paid as per Article 16 Sec. 6 A of the negotiated agreement for up to 1.5 hours.
 - a) Notification of the professional development training will be provided two (2) weeks in advance.
 - b) This professional development training time shall not be used to conduct school business.

- 4. The Faculty Advisory Committee shall have input into the planning of the professional development activities.
- M. Vendors who are provided building access must be approved in accordance with Board policy and must identify the company that they represent and wear appropriate identification.
- N. Vendors that are selling a product shall only meet with teachers on a voluntary basis. Presentations will not be conducted in a faculty meeting or the classroom, with the exception of the third party administrator and/or philanthropic organizations.
- O. Staff members shall be notified as soon as possible after determination of need for staff meetings called on days or at times other than that regularly scheduled for the building staff meetings.
 - 1. Compensatory time shall be arranged by the immediate supervisor whenever such a meeting extends beyond the teacher's workday.
- P. Staff meetings shall not be held on Thursday afternoons except in emergencies.
- Q. While the goal is to secure adequate substitute teachers to cover classes of absent teachers, it is recognized that teachers may be required to forego planning time to cover for an absent teacher and/or accept students from an absent teacher's classroom. The immediate supervisor will establish methods to assign teachers to properly supervise students of absent teachers in an equitable manner within normal constraints unique to the building and to the activities occurring at the time of the absence.
 - 1. Teachers who are required to cover a class of a teacher who is absent shall be compensated as provided in the article on compensation of this Agreement.
 - a) Teachers who cover a class shall receive notification from their immediate supervisor.
 - b) Teachers shall receive such compensation monthly.
 - 2. Teachers receiving additional students not on their regular classroom attendance shall be compensated according to the article on compensation of this Agreement.
 - a) Teachers receiving additional students shall receive verification of the addition of students.
 - b) Teachers shall receive such compensation monthly.
 - c) In elementary schools, the immediate supervisor shall make every effort to assign no more than ten (10) additional students to a classroom for a day.

Section 7: Teacher Evaluation

- A. The Board agrees to comply with the provisions of the School Laws of Oklahoma.
- B. It is encouraged that a union representative and administrative representative meet ahead of the convening of the committee to discuss proposed changes.
- C. Whenever the District Teacher Leader Evaluation (TLE) Guidelines are to be changed, teacher representatives shall be selected to serve on the TLE Task Force Committee, as provided in Article V, Section 9 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. A majority of the committee shall be teachers. A majority of the teachers on the committee shall be from the category subject to evaluation by the guidelines. The committee shall issue a recommendation which shall become effective upon final approval of the Superintendent, or designee, and Union President. For agreed upon evaluation language, reference the approved TLE guidelines on the District website.

D. If a teacher believes the evaluation was affected by failure to follow proper procedures of the OKCPS TLE Guidelines, or was affected by factors other than those specifically stated in the appropriate form, the teacher shall have recourse through the grievance procedure. The rating on the evaluation is not grievable unless affected by factors other than those specifically stated in the appropriate form. (9/2015) Teachers have the right to representation of their choice when being placed on a Plan for Improvement pursuant to the TLE process.

Section 8: Personnel Files

- A. Official personnel files shall be those files maintained in the office of the immediate supervisor and Human Resources.
 - 1. Information from sources other than official personnel files shall not be used in any action that may adversely affect the teacher's employment or the evaluation of a teacher's performance.
- B. Material that may adversely affect the teacher's employment or the evaluation of a teacher's performance shall not be placed in a teacher's file until the teacher has had the opportunity to read the material and to sign and date the actual copy to be filed. The teacher's signature shall merely signify that the teacher has read the material to be filed and does not necessarily indicate agreement with the content. Further, the teacher shall receive a copy of said material at the time the teacher signs the material. Additional copies will be supplied to the teacher with the teacher paying the cost of reproduction.
 - Letters of reference written prior to employment in the District, teaching certificates, transcripts, leave
 records, transaction sheets, and microfilms of past evaluations may be placed in a teacher's file
 without the signature of the teacher.
- C. Teachers shall have the right to affix a written response to any material in their files including observation and evaluation forms within ten (10) workdays after viewing, and such response shall be kept with the material to which it was affixed. A notation that a response was made shall be written on the original material.
 - 1. The responding teacher shall file the original and two (2) copies of the response with the Executive Director of Human Resources.
 - 2. The original response shall be affixed to the material in question on which the notation cited in C. (above) has been made. A copy of the response shall be retained by the Executive Director of Human Resources, and a copy forwarded to the person making the original comment.
 - a) Upon discovery that the original and the response have become detached, it shall be the responsibility of the Executive Director of Human Resources to supply a replacement copy from one (1) of the above sources to complete the record.
 - 1) The original material shall not be reviewed for any action until the Executive Director of Human Resources has supplied a replacement copy of the response.
- D. Teachers shall be permitted to place in their files any material which contains factual information concerning additional training or experience pertinent to the teacher's professional qualifications.
- E. Allegations and anonymous charges shall not be placed in any personnel file, regardless of current employment status.

- F. Any material that is not directly related to a teacher's performance of duty shall not be placed in any personnel file.
- G. Furthermore, any material relating to a suspension, reprimand, or other disciplinary action resulting from allegations, anonymous, unsubstantiated official charges shall not be placed in the personnel files until such allegations or charges have been substantiated and documented through a complete and thorough investigation.
- H. Each teacher, or the teacher's designee, upon presentation of written, notarized authorization specifically authorizing inspection of the teacher's files may, upon request, review the contents of the teacher's own personnel files, and all documents relating to evaluation of the teacher maintained by the immediate supervisor and/or Human Resources.
 - 1. If a teacher desires a copy of any of the above-mentioned documents except letters of reference, such copy will be supplied to the teacher with the teacher paying the cost of reproduction.
 - A teacher, after making prior arrangement with Human Resources, may view employee file information stored in the District computer accessed through Human Resources relating to that specific teacher.
- I. The Board agrees to release information in the personnel files as follows:
 - Only to the employees of the District who have a specific need for the information to complete their
 job duties.
 - 2. Specific information to other public agencies upon official request.
 - 3. Teachers will indicate on a prepared release form those items of information they will allow to be released to nonpublic agencies upon request.
 - 4. Public information will include the name, job title, job location, and salary.
 - 5. Other items of information will be released only upon the written approval of the teacher.
- J. Persons viewing a teacher's file in the process of considering such employee for transfer, promotion, or advancement shall sign and date the viewing record form attached to the file.
- K. If it is determined that a teacher's personnel file contains material that does not meet the criteria stated in this section, the material shall be removed and destroyed in the presence of the teacher.
- L. When three (3) years have elapsed since the last documented disciplinary action, and upon written request by the teacher, verbal and written warnings/reprimands shall be removed from the personnel files and returned to the teacher.
 - 1. Plans for improvement and any warnings/reprimands related specifically to such plans shall not be removed.
- M. When five years have elapsed since the completion date of the last plan for improvement, and upon written request by the teacher to the Executive Director of Human Resources, plans for improvement shall be removed from the personnel files and destroyed (8/9/2012).
- N. Records or copies of records removed upon the request of the teacher as described above shall not be retained in any form.

Section 9: Class Interruptions

- A. Entrance into a classroom while class is in session shall be kept at a minimum and shall be only by persons fulfilling their assigned duties.
- B. After the first twenty (20) student days, announcements will be made at specified times during the day not to exceed two (2) times with the exception of emergencies.
 - 1. Announcements shall not exceed ten (10) minutes in length.
- C. All classroom instruction shall begin as soon as possible after class is scheduled to begin.
- D. Learning activities are to be continued until the class is scheduled to be dismissed.
- E. Upon request by persons not employed by the District, entrance into the classroom shall be allowed only when arrangements have been made with the immediate supervisor and the teacher involved.
- F. The provisions of E (above) shall not prohibit the immediate supervisor or designee from escorting interested citizens and patrons on general school visits.
 - 1. Class instruction shall not be interrupted.
 - 2. Should a conference become necessary with an individual teacher, such persons may make an appointment with the teacher.

Section 10: Teacher-Parent Conferences

- A. When determined necessary by the teacher, the teacher shall attempt to arrange and hold conferences with parents or legal guardians to discuss a student's behavior or learning activities.
 - 1. In the event such a conference is not held, a record of attempts to contact parents shall be maintained. Such records shall indicate the date, time, reason, and method used to contact.
- B. Teachers will arrange with the parent or legal guardian the most suitable time and method for the meeting to take place.
 - 1. Teachers must be accessible during their workday, and the immediate supervisor shall arrange any relinquishment of their responsibilities.
 - 2. If such a meeting must take place outside of the workday, compensatory time off is to be arranged by mutual agreement of the teacher and immediate supervisor.
- C. If a conference is arranged by someone other than the individual teacher(s), the time of the conference shall be agreed to by the teacher(s) involved.
- D. At least two (2) teacher-parent conferences will be scheduled prior to the beginning of the fourth quarter by elementary classroom teachers. When conferences are held, the date and any necessary documentation shall be recorded.
 - In the event such a conference is not held, a record of attempts to contact parents shall be maintained.
 Such records shall indicate the date, time, reason, and method used to contact.

Section 11: Facilities and Supplies

- A. Teachers shall notify the immediate supervisor of the need for supplies, facilities, equipment, furniture, and materials and the maintenance thereof.
 - 1. The immediate supervisor shall initiate appropriate procedures to acquire the requested supplies,

facilities, equipment, furniture, materials, and maintenance, as soon as possible, or explain to the teacher why the requested items cannot be obtained.

- a) The teacher may request in writing and shall receive in writing an explanation as to why the requested items cannot be obtained.
- 2. Upon a teacher's request, official requests for maintenance shall be made available for viewing.
- 3. When notified that repairs are scheduled to be made in a teacher's work area, the immediate supervisor shall notify the teacher when the repairs are scheduled to begin.
- 4. When repairs necessitate a relocation of the class, such relocation shall be arranged by the immediate supervisor.
- B. The Board shall make provisions for at least one (1) teachers' lounge area at each school site.
- C. Teachers who are assigned to more than one (1) school shall notify the immediate supervisor of each school of the need for supplies, facilities, equipment, furniture, and materials, and the maintenance thereof.
 - The immediate supervisor shall initiate appropriate procedures to acquire the requested supplies, facilities, equipment, furniture, materials, and maintenance, as soon as possible, or explain to the teacher why the requested items cannot be obtained.
 - a) The teacher may request in writing and shall receive in writing an explanation as to why the requested items cannot be obtained.
 - 2. No teacher shall be required to conduct classes in closets, hallways or storage rooms.
 - 3. Counselors shall be provided a file cabinet with a lock to secure confidential student information.

Section 12: Miscellaneous

- A. The District shall issue an activity pass during preschool week to each teacher requesting one.
- B. Upon presentation of the teacher's activity pass and other identification with the teacher's picture, a teacher and one (1) guest shall have free admittance to school-sponsored activities within the District.
 - 1. When a larger facility is leased to accommodate the anticipated spectators, activity passes shall be honored only for the District employees assigned to the participating schools.
- C. All funds collected for the benefit of the staff shall not be commingled with other funds and their expenditure shall be the responsibility of the staff.

Section 13: Reduction in Force and Reemployment

- A. When a district-wide reduction among certified personnel is necessary as determined by the Board, the District may exempt up to twenty-two (22) teachers or positions from the procedures and steps below in order to best meet the needs of the students and the District. After positions are identified for exemption, the following procedures and steps shall be implemented:
 - 1. Teachers shall have the opportunity to voluntarily resign or retire.
 - In the event a teacher holds certification in more than one (1) area, all areas of certification shall be considered, provided each certificate is on file in Human Resources.
 - 3. Reduction in force shall be made according to certification, with the last hired being the first to be

released.

- 4. In each of the above steps, consideration will be given to the affirmative action guidelines of the District.
- B. Teachers who are released because of reduction in force shall be recalled by certification(s) with the last released being recalled first.
 - 1. Teachers who are released shall have priority for one (1) year in filling vacancies and new positions for which they are certified.
 - 2. During the first year after reduction in force, released teachers shall be placed on a recall list. Teachers on the recall list shall be notified of vacancies for which they are certified. Those not responding in writing, to the notification within ten (10) days, shall have their names removed from the recall list.
 - 3. After the first school year and up to August 31 of the following year, teachers who have been released shall be given priority over new applicants for positions for which they are certified.
 - a) Teachers who are reemployed and who have earned one (1) year of teaching experience in other public school districts shall receive applicable credit on the salary schedule.
- C. Teachers released due to a reduction in force shall, upon written request, be placed at the top of the list of substitute teachers for the District.
- D. A break in service of one (1) year or less caused by a reduction in force shall not affect the seniority status of the teacher.

Section 14: Faculty Advisory Committee (FAC)

- A. Each school shall establish a FAC. The purpose is to provide the immediate supervisor advice, counsel and information, in a collaborative and collegial setting, o items of common concern relating to professional development, budget, school safety, student discipline and other concerns relating to the operation of the school. Each FAC shall be allowed to exercise the full powers given to it by this Agreement, and no other groups will be used to replace its functions. The District agrees to ensure that the building administration recognizes the FAC as an important part of the school, and meets and collaborates with, and considers input from, the FAC as necessary to help it carry out its functions.
- B. During pre-school work days, an election held by faculty shall be conducted to determine all FAC members for the current school year.
 - 1. The size of the FAC shall be determined by the faculty and the immediate supervisor.
 - 2. The membership of the FAC should generally reflect the composition of the faculty by subject/grade, race, and sex.
- C. The FAC shall select one of its elected members to serve as chairperson and recording secretary.
 - 1. The FAC chairperson convenes and facilitates all FAC meetings.
 - 2. The FAC chairperson prepares each agenda with input from other teachers and immediate supervisors.
 - The recording secretary shall send to the immediate supervisor a list of the FAC members and the
 dates of the regularly scheduled meetings and shall record and distribute to the faculty the minutes of
 all meetings.

- D. Although the immediate supervisor is not required to be at every meeting, the immediate supervisor shall meet with the FAC at least once each month.
 - 1. Additional meetings of the FAC may be scheduled as needed.
- E. Duties and responsibilities of the FAC.
 - 1. The immediate supervisor or his/her designee shall meet and consult with the FAC with regard to the establishment of a duty schedule as provided in Section 3 of this Article.
 - 2. The FAC shall have input into the planning of the professional development activities as provided in Section 6 of this Article.
 - 3. The immediate supervisor or his/her designee shall meet with the FAC to establish and/or review the building discipline plan as provided in Article VII, Section 1.
 - 4. The members of the FAC shall compose the budget committee and shall review all site-operated funds (General fund, Activity funds, and Federal funds.) The Student Activity Fund Manual approved by the Board shall be available on the District's website (6/14/10).
 - a) Teachers shall be informed of all amounts allocated and budgetary deadlines as soon as they become known to the immediate supervisor.
 - b) Teachers will submit his/her suggestions to the immediate supervisor or the FAC concerning the expenditures of funds to be allocated to the building.
 - c) The FAC shall have the opportunity to review the tentative budget (s) before it is finalized.
 - d) Teachers shall be informed in writing of the finalized building budget(s).
 - e) Teachers shall be informed in writing by the immediate supervisor when it is necessary to make changes in the building budgets.
 - f) The FAC shall receive monthly budget reports upon request.
 - 5. Teachers eligible for consideration for Teacher of the Year must be selected by their school's Faculty Advisory Committee. Each Faculty Advisory Committee may nominate (select) only one teacher.
 - a) The teacher must have completed a minimum of three years of employment as a teacher with Oklahoma City Public Schools.
 - b) The teacher must deliver classroom instruction for the majority of the day.

Section 15: Site Waivers

- A. The parties recognize that certain provisions of this Agreement may be at variance with a school or work site plan: experimental programs; innovative programs; where a school has embarked on an approved model of whole-school reform; or where a school is reorganizing in an effort to improve education of students. All waivers must be in accordance with that site's improvement plan. In such cases waivers may be sought by the school to change any of the provisions of this Agreement as follows: Article VI, Section 2, 3, 6, 9-12, and 14; Article X, and Article XV, (only for salary and benefits that exceed those outlined in this Article).
- B. A request for a waiver may be initiated by the Faculty Advisory Committee or by the immediate supervisor.
- C. Before a waiver is forwarded to District administration and to the Union and after a full discussion, a secret ballot vote of all teachers shall be conducted by the immediate supervisor and the Faculty Advisory

Committee.

- 1. All members of the bargaining unit may vote, except those on leave of absence and substitute teachers.
- 2. The ballot shall include a specific written explanation of how the contract would be altered.
- 3. Ballots shall be cast in sealed envelopes and shall be tallied in an open setting by the immediate supervisor and a representative group of the Faculty Advisory Committee.
- 4. Only one vote shall be held during any given school year on a specific issue, unless a tie vote occurs resulting in a runoff election.
- 5. A "supermajority" of seventy-five percent (75%) of the teachers is required to approve a waiver request.
- D. Waivers shall be granted for a maximum of one (1) school year with the option to apply for renewal annually.
- E. Waivers shall be in writing and embodied into this Agreement.
- F. As parties to the Agreement, only the President of the Union and the Superintendent can give final authorization to a waiver. The request shall meet District guidelines for waiver format and shall include the written explanation, supported by evidence that at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the teachers at the site have agreed to the change. The parties shall construct the waiver language and ratify the waiver.
- G. Any teacher who does not wish to remain at a site that has been granted a ratified waiver shall have the right to transfer.
 - 1. Such teacher shall submit an application for Waiver Transfer Card.
 - 2. The teacher shall be transferred to that vacancy, if a vacancy is available for which the teacher is qualified and meets the requests on the transfer card.
 - 3. If no vacancy is available, the teacher shall be transferred when such a vacancy occurs.

Section 16: Drug and Alcohol Testing

The District's Board of Education adopted a revised drug and alcohol testing policy for all employees, including teachers, on October 10, 2016, codified as District Policy G-38. The policy will apply to all members of this bargaining unit; however, the District may not change the requirements of this policy, as applied to members of this bargaining unit, without the parties agreeing to such changes in a bargaining session or memorandum of understanding.

ARTICLE VII - TEACHER-PUPIL RELATIONS

Section 1: Guidelines for Student Behavior and Student Code of Conduct

- A. The Student Code of Conduct shall be reviewed and maintained by the Student Code of Conduct Committee. The Committee shall meet at a minimum of once every two years, with the interest of the students as the foundation of the code.
 - 1. The Student Code of Conduct Committee shall include teachers as part of the Committee, with at least half of the teachers on the Committee selected by the bargaining unit.
 - Joint teacher/administrator in-service on the Student Code of Conduct shall be held to review any proposed significant changes.
 - 3. The District shall provide teachers the Student Code of Conduct and support teachers in establishing

and maintaining student discipline.

- B. The teacher shall have the responsibility and the authority to maintain student behavior within the building guidelines and in accordance with the Student Code of Conduct.
 - Each teacher shall post rules for classroom conduct, aligned with the Student Code of Conduct and applicable Board Policies and Administrative Regulations, in a location and manner easily visible to all students by the first student day of each school year.

Section 2: Student Discipline and Referral

A. Disciplinary Action

1. Disciplinary actions of teachers and administrators shall follow the Student Code of Conduct.

B. Referrals

- 1. Demonstrated behavior as described in the code must be timely referred by the teacher to the appropriate administrator.
- 2. Any teacher who refers a pupil to an administrator for disciplinary action shall submit through Infinite Campus as established in the Student Code of Conduct.
- 3. The immediate supervisor shall take action appropriate to the severity of the offense and in accordance with the principles of progressive discipline and the Student Code of Conduct.
- 4. Students who are removed from class should not return to referring teacher's class until the referral's resolution is recorded in Infinite Campus.

C. Removal From Class/School

- 1. Any student, in grades 6-12 (70 O.S. § 6-149.7), who commits assault, battery, or assault and battery on a teacher who is in the performance of assigned duties, including extracurricular activities, shall be removed from the teacher's class and extracurricular activity pending investigation.
 - a) A student so removed shall not be readmitted until the investigation is concluded.
 - b) A student so removed shall not be readmitted to the teacher's class and/or extracurricular activity without a conference between the teacher and the immediate supervisor or the appropriate administrator.
 - c) When battery or assault and battery on a teacher has been substantiated, the student shall not be readmitted to the teacher's class and/or extracurricular assignment without the teacher's approval.
 - d) When the immediate supervisor has determined that a student is guilty of premeditated and unprovoked battery or assault and battery on a teacher that student shall be removed from the school.
- Any student who threatens physical harm of a teacher, who is in the performance of assigned duties, including extracurricular activities, shall be removed from the teacher's class and extracurricular activity pending investigation.
 - a) A student so removed shall not be readmitted until the investigation is concluded.
 - b) A student so removed shall not be readmitted to the teacher's class and/or extracurricular activity without a conference between the teacher and the immediate supervisor or the appropriate

administrator.

c) When a threat of physical harm on a teacher has been substantiated, the student shall not be readmitted to the teacher's class and/or extracurricular activity without a conference between the teacher, parent or guardian (if available), student and an administrator. If the parent is unable to be physically present, alternate forms of participation, such as a teleconference, will be made available. The conference will occur expeditiously so as to minimize disruption to the student's normal placement.

ARTICLE VIII - TEACHERS' RIGHTS

Section 1: Disciplinary Action

- A. No teacher shall be disciplined or reprimanded without just cause.
 - 1. No teacher shall be disciplined or reprimanded in the presence of others except when an emergency situation arises that requires immediate action at that particular time.
 - 2. When calling a meeting with a teacher, the immediate supervisor or other appropriate district leader will indicate if the meeting is for a disciplinary matter, and for disciplinary matters will provide a general indication of the subject matter to be discussed.
 - 3. The teacher may have a representative present for any disciplinary meeting.
- B. No teacher shall be reduced in compensation without just cause.
- C. The Board shall abide by all applicable state and federal statutes, rules and regulations and State Department of Education rules and regulations relating to suspension or dismissal of a teacher.
- D. The steps that will normally be followed in disciplining teachers shall include:
 - 1. Verbal warning which shall be issued within five (5) days of the immediate supervisor's knowledge of the occurrence.
 - a) The immediate supervisor shall place in the teacher's file at the school a brief notation of time, date, and incident.
 - 2. Written reprimand which shall be issued within five (5) days of the immediate supervisor's knowledge of the occurrence.
 - a) The immediate supervisor shall place in the teacher's personnel file a detailed account of the incident, including time, date, facts and circumstances (8/16/11).
 - 3. When Human Resources is required to conduct an investigation of alleged serious misconduct of a teacher, the teacher shall be immediately notified of the investigation.
 - a) If a written reprimand is issued as a result of the investigation, it shall be issued no later than fifteen (15) days after the teacher has been notified of the investigation.
 - 4. Disciplinary action for serious offenses may be initiated at any step.

Section 2: Complaints

- A. No disciplinary action against a teacher shall be taken on the basis of a complaint by a student, parent, or District employee without just cause.
 - 1. A person making an allegation is considered to be a complainant.

- 2. The immediate supervisor shall not become the complainant for complaints made by other persons.
- B. Any discussion with a teacher as a result of a complaint to the immediate supervisor or other administrator by a student, parent, or District employee regarding a decision or action taken by the teacher shall be in private.
- C. The immediate supervisor shall inform the teacher, in writing, of the teacher's right to face the complainant.
 - 1. The teacher shall indicate, in writing, whether the teacher chooses to waive or exercise the right to face the complainant.
 - 2. If the immediate supervisor and the teacher agree, in writing, that the facts are not in dispute, the right to face the complainant is automatically waived.
- D. If a conference or hearing is scheduled by an administrator involving the complainant or the complainant and the teacher, a private discussion between the teacher and the immediate supervisor shall be held prior to the conference.
 - 1. The teacher shall be entitled to have a person or persons of the teacher's choosing present when in a conference or hearing with the complainant.
 - 2. The teacher may be made aware of the results of the conference or hearing if the teacher is not in attendance.
 - 3. If the teacher is not made aware of the results of the conference or hearing, no action shall be taken against the teacher and no written record shall be maintained of the complaint.
 - 4. If there is no disclosure of negligence or unprofessional conduct, the complaint shall be dropped and no written record shall be retained.
 - 5. No teacher shall take reprisals against any student or District employee as a result of the complaint.

Section 3: Person and Property

- A. If, in the absence of a teacher, it is necessary for an administrator or designee to search a teacher's desk, locker, or files to find necessary materials or information, the teacher shall be notified of the search and the reason thereof upon returning to work.
 - 1. Necessary materials or information shall be those items relating to school activities.
- B. Teachers while engaging in performing their professional duties, including extracurricular duties, may use reasonable force to protect themselves from attack, to protect another person or property, to quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to others, or to obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects while observing due care provisions.
- C. The Board agrees to abide by the provisions of 70 O.S. § 6-149.8, with respect to the injury of a teacher sustained in performance of duties.
- D. In case of an assault, battery, or assault and battery upon a teacher, the Board shall abide by 70 O.S. §§ 6-149.7 and 6-149.8 and promptly render all assistance necessary to the teacher in accordance with the Board policy on teacher assault.
- E. Upon request from the classroom teacher, the immediate supervisor shall initiate appropriate procedures to provide a lockable storage compartment.

- F. Teachers subpoenaed as witnesses in a substance or child abuse case as a result of their employment in the District may request administrative accompaniment.
- G. Teachers required to appear in court as described above shall not suffer loss of pay for absence during the contract year.

ARTICLE IX - SPECIAL TEACHERS AND SERVICES

Section 1: Certified Substitutes

- A. Substitutes shall be compensated at a rate provided in the article on compensation of this Agreement.
- B. Any substitute who teaches a minimum of two-thirds (2/3) of the regular school year shall be granted one (1) year of experience for the purpose of determining placement on the salary scale when employed as a regular teacher.
- C. When a substitute has completed twenty (20) consecutive workdays on one (1) assignment and is to continue on the same assignment past the twentieth (20th) day, the substitute will be placed on the appropriate step of the teacher's salary schedule on the twenty-first (21st) day and thereafter until the assignment is completed. A substitute teacher may not be employed in the same assignment for more than 20 school days during a school year unless the substitute teacher holds a valid certificate for the grade and subject matter of the assignment.
 - 1. The substitute shall be reimbursed for mileage as provided in this Agreement when assigned as a long-term substitute for a traveling teacher. When a complaint has been filed against a substitute teacher, the substitute teacher shall be notified of the complaint by the substitute office administrator.

Section 2: Coaches

- A. Coaches shall receive their salary supplement during the time their sport or activity is in season.
- B. Compensation for play-off competitions that are not part of the regular season shall be made by computing the coach's average weekly coaching pay.
- C. Buildings shall be properly heated and maintained during the after-school practice sessions.
 - 1. Attempts shall be made to properly heat and maintain buildings during holiday practice sessions.

Section 3: Special Education

A. A special education textbook and materials committee shall be established for the purpose of selecting appropriate state adopted textbooks and recommending materials.

ARTICLE X - INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS

Section 1: Selection, Purchase, Distribution, and Maintenance

- A. Textbooks and supplementary materials shall be selected as prescribed in 70 O.S. §§ 16-111 and 16-111.1.
- B. In each school, typing and duplicating equipment shall be available to assist the teacher in the preparation of instructional materials. In the event such equipment is not in working condition, the immediate supervisor shall request the necessary repairs when notified by the teacher.
- C. After supplies and materials are delivered to the building and are available for distribution, teachers shall

be notified of their availability.

- 1. Teachers new to the building shall be informed of building distribution procedures.
- D. A list of supplies and/or materials available from the District warehouse, a copy of School Board policies, Oklahoma State School Board rules and regulations, teacher negotiated agreement, current and updated yearly supplements of the School Laws of Oklahoma, Catalog of Ready Resources for In-service Training, and T.L.E. Guidelines shall be sent to each school media center.
 - North Central Association of Colleges and Schools accreditation standards shall be sent to each school
 media center.
- E. If a teacher requests needed supplies or materials and they are unavailable in the building, the teacher shall notify the immediate supervisor.
 - The immediate supervisor shall initiate appropriate procedures to acquire the supplies and materials
 from the District warehouse as soon as possible or explain to the teacher why the requested supplies
 or materials cannot be obtained.
 - a) The teacher may request in writing and shall receive in writing an explanation as to why the requested supplies or materials cannot be obtained.

Section 2: Miscellaneous

A. Monies collected from fundraisers/sales shall be placed into the school's appropriate activity accounts.

ARTICLE XI - SAFETY AND HEALTH

Section 1: Safety

- A. The Board shall maintain health and safety conditions at each work location in compliance with all city and state statutes and/or regulations governing such conditions as interpreted by the appropriate city and state regulatory agencies.
 - 1. The immediate supervisor should be notified of possible unsafe or hazardous conditions within a school.
 - a) In the absence of the immediate supervisor, the immediate supervisor's designee shall be so notified.
 - b) Teachers may take appropriate action to protect the health and safety of staff and students prior to notification of the immediate supervisor.
 - c) If a determination is made that unsafe or hazardous conditions exist, the immediate supervisor shall proceed as outlined in Article XIII, Section 1, C and D.
 - 2. No teacher shall be required to work under unsafe or hazardous conditions if determined by the proper regulatory authority.
 - Teachers shall suffer no loss of pay or accumulated leave as a result of not working under such conditions.
- B. Periodic inspections of each building for fire and safety hazards will be made within a time period of no less than alternate school years. Where conditions are in violation of city and state regulations, modifications will be made.

- A copy of inspection reports filed with the District shall be available at the Budget and Financial Management Services Office.
- 2. A copy of inspection reports filed with the immediate supervisor shall be available in the office of the immediate supervisor.
- C. The Board agrees to abide by the Governmental Tort Claims Act, 51 O.S. § 151, et. seq. with respect to liability for loss from the torts of its employees subject to the limitations specified in the Act.
- D. No employee shall be prohibited from securing emergency aid or medical assistance for an injured teacher.
- E. Procedures for handling student or staff injuries or sudden illnesses or catastrophes shall be included in building guidelines and made available to each teacher.
 - 1. Building guidelines shall be established in accordance with District policy and procedure.
 - 2. Such guidelines shall be reviewed periodically with the staff.
- F. Hazardous chemicals shall be kept in a separate, closed compartment of non-corrosive material.
- G. Some means of communication shall be established between each portable classroom and the main office.

Section 2: Workers' Compensation

- A. Any teacher while in performance of duty shall be covered by the Workers' Compensation Act.
- B. Teachers injured while in the performance of duty will be entitled to leave as provided in Article XIV, Teacher Absence, Job Incurred Disability.

ARTICLE XII - POLITICAL ACTIVITY

Section 1: Involvement

Teachers' political activities shall be individual and personal, and the involvement of teachers in any political activities shall be at the sole discretion of the individual teachers.

Section 2: Interference with Job

Teachers' political activities shall in no way interfere with their obligations or assigned duties during their workday and shall not in any manner be injected into the educational programs of the District.

Section 3: No Action against Teacher

No action shall be taken with respect to a teacher's political activities except in the case of a violation of this Article.

Section 4: Election Days

No staff meetings, parent-teacher conferences, or open house events will be scheduled on citywide, state, or federal election days.

ARTICLE XIII - EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSING

Section 1: Decision by Superintendent

In the event of school days being canceled by order of the Superintendent for weather and/or disaster events, teachers will not be required to make up lost work days provided the state-defined student minimum of 1080 hours has been met.

- A. Notification of such closing shall be made to the media.
- B. Where a teacher had indicated a necessary absence for either sick leave or personal leave on a workday

on which school is not in session due to weather or other acts of nature, such indication of absence shall not constitute a loss of pay or accumulated leave as a result of such action.

Section 2: Teacher Delayed by Weather

If a teacher while enroute to school finds that the teacher will be delayed by traffic conditions or the weather, the teacher shall notify the immediate supervisor as soon as possible of the anticipated arrival time.

- A. The teacher will report to duty as soon as practicable that day.
- B. The delay shall result in loss of pay only if the immediate supervisor can ascertain that the delay was the fault of the teacher.

Section 3: Teacher Not Required to Report

Teachers shall not be required to report to school when the school has been closed as a result of weather or other act of nature or a physical condition of that school that could endanger the teachers' health or safety. Teachers shall suffer no loss of pay or accumulated leave as a result of such action.

A. Teachers shall not have to return to school until it has been inspected and approved by the proper authority.

Section 4: Early Dismissal

When students are sent home as a result of an emergency, teachers shall be dismissed as soon as practicable.

- A. To facilitate the exiting of students, the immediate supervisor may ask for a sufficient number of volunteers. If volunteers are not acquired, the immediate supervisor may assign a sufficient number of teachers.
 - 1. Any teacher facilitating the exiting of students beyond the teacher's workday shall receive equivalent compensatory time. Such time shall be arranged by mutual agreement of the teacher and the immediate supervisor.
- B. Teachers shall suffer no loss of pay or accumulated leave as a result of such action.

ARTICLE XIV - TEACHER ABSENCE

Section 1: General Provisions

Leave of more than two (2) hours shall be charged against appropriate leave consistent with the actual time of absence. When there appears to be a pattern of absenteeism that indicates that an abuse of any type of leave may be occurring, an investigation may be conducted. Teachers are encouraged to provide as much advance notice as possible when planning to use any type of leave, including leave of two (2) hours or less. Teachers should have opportunities to use leave of two (2) hours or less on an occasional basis, generally to mean no more than once per month.

Section 2: Sick Leave

- A. Sick leave shall be granted for personal illness, pregnancy, accidental injury, illness, medical or dental appointments of the employee or a member of her/his immediate family.
 - 1. Immediate family shall be defined as the teacher's spouse, parent or guardian, child, brother, sister, grandparent, grandchild, or each similar relationship as established by marriage.
 - a) Other cases, which seem to merit consideration, shall be referred in writing to the Executive

Director of Human Resources for approval.

- B. Sick leave shall be provided in the amount of one (1) day per contract month and shall accumulate from year-to-year. Teachers shall be credited with their full amount of accumulated sick leave benefits and the current year's allocation at the beginning of the school year or at the time of employment (7/20/21).
 - 1. Teachers with contracts for ten (10) months' (181 195 work days) employment shall have ten (10) work days of sick leave available each year.
 - 2. Teachers with contracts for eleven (11) months' (196 242 work days) employment shall have eleven (11) work days of sick leave available each year.
 - 3. Teachers with contracts for twelve (12) months' (242 days) employment shall have twelve (12) work days of sick leave available each year.
 - 4. The cumulative sick leave allowances for permanent part-time teachers shall be proportional to the amount of time worked.
 - 5. Bonus sick leave days, earned as a result of unused personal business leave days, shall not be counted as part of the annual allocation but shall be added to the total accumulated days at the end of the school year.
- C. A newly hired teacher shall be credited with up to sixty (60) days of sick leave earned in another Oklahoma school district provided:
 - 1. The teacher is employed the succeeding school year.
 - 2. The number of days to be transferred into the District has been certified by the sending district.
 - 3. Such transferred days shall be used first in case of illness.
 - 4. The payment for unused sick leave upon severance will apply only to those days accumulated in this District.
- D. It is not necessary for a teacher to obtain prior approval to use sick leave, but when the illness extends beyond five (5) consecutive workdays, the teacher may be required to provide appropriate evidence that the absence has been necessitated by reasons that are allowable under the provisions of this Agreement.
 - 1. If teachers are unable to report to assigned buildings, they shall notify the immediate supervisor or the immediate supervisor's designee and/or the District substitute office in the manner determined by the immediate supervisor.
- E. When there appears to be a pattern of absenteeism and the Executive Director of Human Resources or the immediate supervisor believes that sick leave is not being used for the specified reasons, the Executive Director of Human Resources or the immediate supervisor may initiate an investigation based upon documentation which will be conducted by the Human Resources Department.
 - 1. Appropriate disciplinary action may occur when it is substantiated that sick leave has been used for reasons other than those specified in A. above.
 - 2. The following are some examples of patterns of absenteeism, which may lead to disciplinary action:
 - a) There is an established pattern of sick leave use on days immediately preceding or following a holiday.
 - b) There is an established pattern of sick leave use on days following warrant days.
 - c) There is an established pattern of sick leave use on days of inclement weather.

- d) There is an established pattern of sick leave use on the first (1st) or last days of a work week.
- e) There is an established pattern of absenteeism of two (2) hours or less per day.
- F. If, after exhausting all sick leave, a teacher is absent from duties for the reasons stated in A. above, and does not qualify for the self-insured sick leave in Section 2 of this Article, the teacher shall receive full contract salary, for a period not to exceed twenty (20) days, less the amount:
 - 1. Actually paid a certified substitute teacher for his or her position if a certified substitute teacher is hired, or normally paid a certified substitute teacher for his or her position if a certified substitute is not hired.
 - 2. The amount deducted for a certified substitute shall not exceed the absent teacher's rate of pay.
- G. After the twenty (20) workdays above are exhausted, the teacher will be automatically placed on a leave of absence without pay as provided in Section 6 of this Article.
 - 1. To remain on sick leave of absence without pay for the balance of the contractual year, the teacher must have a doctor's statement indicating the teacher is not able to work.
 - 2. To return to work, the teacher must have a doctor's statement indicating the teacher is able to work.
- H. Teachers who retire in accordance with Oklahoma Teachers' Retirement requirements shall be compensated for each day of accumulated sick leave as provided in the article on compensation in this Agreement.
- I. Teachers who resign shall be paid for each day of accumulated sick leave as provided in the article on compensation in this Agreement.
- J. Teachers who terminate their employment and are reemployed by the District within one (1) year shall have reinstated all accumulated sick leave.
 - 1. In the event that the teacher received severance pay for such accumulated sick leave days, the teacher shall be allowed to buy back all such sick leave days within thirty (30) days of reemployment at the rate in effect at the time of reemployment.

Section 3: Self-Insured Sick Leave

A. Who is Eligible?

- 1. When a teacher has exhausted all available sick leave and personal business leave and is unable to work because of a catastrophic, long-term illness or debilitating injury, affecting the teacher or affecting the natural, adopted, or foster minor child of a teacher in a way that requires the presence of the teacher to provide care, the teacher is eligible to apply for benefits under the self-insured sick leave plan.
- The purpose of the plan is to provide income protection to members of the bargaining unit who suffer
 or whose child suffers from chronic, long-term or debilitating injury or illness that necessitates the
 member's absence from duty.
 - a) The plan is not designed, nor will the committee grant days for routine illness, illness in the teacher's immediate family or normal maternity and delivery.
 - b) A teacher is not eligible to participate in the program when an illness or injury is a result of an onthe-job injury.

B. How and When to Apply

- 1. Application for benefits must be made to both co-chairpersons of the self-insured sick leave committee.
- 2. The letter of application must be accompanied by a physician's statement describing, in detail, the illness, offering a diagnosis and prognosis and, when possible, a projected date of return to work. In the case of a child's disability, the physician's statement shall also stipulate the conditions or circumstances requiring the teacher's absence.
- 3. Applications should be made as soon as possible in advance of the expiration of leave, as no time can be granted retroactively.

C. The Committee

- 1. A committee shall review all applications for participation in the program and have the authority to approve the application with concurrence of four (4) members.
 - a) The committee shall consist of three (3) members appointed by the President of the Union and three (3) members appointed by the Superintendent.
 - 1) The District physician may be used for consultation at the direction of the Superintendent.
 - 2) The committee shall have the authority to require evidence of a second concurring medical opinion by a physician designated by the committee.
- 2. The committee shall have the authority to develop rules for the operation of the committee.
- 3. Each application will be considered on its merit and prior decisions of the committee will necessarily be considered precedent for future application.
- 4. All use of substitute teachers will be reported to the Payroll Department.
- 5. At each meeting of the committee, the available balance and prior use of the plan shall be made available to the members of the committee (9-2010).

D. Participation in the Self-Insured Sick Leave Plan

- 1. The committee may authorize participation on behalf of the applicant in any amount up to thirty (30) days.
 - a) Before the thirty (30) days begin, there is a ten (10) workday waiting period at partial pay as provided in Section 1: F, F. 1. and F. 2. of this Article.
- 2. If the teacher is not able to return to work after initial participation, application may again be made to the committee using the procedure outlined in Subsection B above.
 - a) Additional participation shall not exceed twenty-five (25) days.
 - 1) A five (5) day waiting period, at partial pay as provided in Section 1: F, F. 1. and F. of this Article, will be required before these additional days may be used.
- 3. The committee shall have the discretion, but shall be under no obligation, additional partial pay waiting period of five (5) days.
- 4. If a doctor's prognosis indicates that a teacher will not be able to return to work permanently, the teacher's position shall be declared vacant. Should the teacher return to work, the teacher shall be assigned to the former school or department if an appropriate vacancy exists or if a similar vacancy in the same building or another building exists.

Section 4: Personal Business and Emergency Leave

- A. Upon written request, teachers shall be granted three (3) days of leave per year to conduct personal business.
 - 1. Personal business leave may be taken for emergencies that demand the presence of the teacher at that particular time without the written request in A. above.
 - a) The written request for personal business leave for an emergency shall be completed and submitted to the immediate supervisor within two (2) days after the absence.
 - 2. When such an absence would result in a hardship for students, the District, or professional staff, the teacher may be asked to select another date for taking the leave.
- B. Personal business leave shall not be taken for participating in political or social problem activities, seeking or interviewing for other employment, performing a service for compensation, participating in professional activities, and participating in entertainment, recreation, or for vacation.
- C. Personal business leave shall not be taken during the following times: first (1st) or last week of school, immediately preceding or following a holiday or vacation period, and days when school remains in session despite adverse weather conditions, unless otherwise approved by the appropriate Assistant Superintendent.
 - 1. Restrictions in C shall not apply to emergency leave.
- D. Personal business leave not utilized during the contract year will be added to the total number of days of sick leave at the end of the year.
- E. An additional day of personal business leave shall be granted to those teachers who have eighty percent (80%) of their current year's sick leave at the end of the contract year. The additional day will be made available at the beginning of the next year.

Section 5: Non-cumulative Leave

A. Professional Leave

- Professional leave is defined as an approved absence from an employee's regularly assigned duties in order that the employee may participate in activities related to the employee's profession or professional growth.
- 2. Upon application to and approval of the immediate supervisor and review by the Executive Director of Human Resources, teachers shall be granted professional leave days to attend conferences, workshops, and meetings without loss of salary or benefits. Teachers granted such leave are encouraged to share their experience and the knowledge gained with their colleagues.
- 3. Upon application for such leave, the teacher shall provide proper documentation validating the type and dates of the conference, workshop, or meeting.

B. Job-Incurred Disability

1. For the 2024-2025 School Year, Teachers who are injured in the line of duty and unable to perform their duties as certified by a physician may be absent without loss of pay for a period not to exceed three (3) days, per injury, not to exceed ten (10) days per year.

- a) Such leave shall be over and above the teacher's sick leave allowance.
- b) The District's Worker's Compensation Office may require from teachers who are unable to return to work after ten (10) days:
 - 1) A statement and/or medical records from a physician.

the teacher's sick leave allowance.

- The opinion of a physician of the District's choosing.
 a-Teachers who qualify shall receive up to an additional ten (10) days of leave over and above
- 2. The total compensation paid to a teacher while on injury leave will be a combination of workers' compensation and salary but will not exceed the amount of the teacher's contract salary.
- Teachers who are injured as a result of an assault or battery while in the performance of any duties as
 an education employee shall be entitled to leave of absence from employment with the school without
 loss of leave benefits.
- 4. Reports of injuries on the job must be verified by the immediate supervisor or designee.
- 5. When there is reasonable cause to suspect abuse of this leave, the District may require evidence of a second (2nd), concurring medical opinion by a physician designated by the District.

C. Bereavement Leave

- 1. Up to five (5) consecutive workdays following the death of a member of the immediate family shall be allowed without loss of pay for bereavement. If no workdays exist between the date the death occurs and the end of the fifth (5th) day, no bereavement leave shall be granted.
 - a) Immediate family shall be defined as the teacher's spouse, parent or guardian, child, brother, sister, grandparent, grandchild, or similar relationship as established by marriage.
 - b) Bereavement outside the immediate family or the consecutive five (5) workdays, which seems to merit special consideration, should be referred in writing to the Executive Director of Human Resources.
 - c) When additional time is needed for bereavement, sick days may be used with approval from the Executive Director of Human Resources.

D. Legal Leave

- Teachers who are summoned to jury duty or who are subpoenaed as witnesses for testimony by a
 court of record relating to the official business of the District or directly resulting from their
 employment by the District shall not suffer a loss of pay or leave time as a result of such summons or
 subpoena.
 - a) The teacher shall deliver to the District all jury pay and witness fees received exclusive of all parking and mileage reimbursements.
- If a teacher is subpoensed as a witness by a court of record and the teacher's testimony does not relate
 to the official business of the District or is not the direct result of the teacher's employment in the
 Oklahoma City Public Schools, then the absence may be charged to personal business.

a) If after exhausting all personal business leave, the teacher may, upon requesting such leave in writing, and upon approval by the Executive Director of Human Resources, have this specified absence charged to sick leave.

E. Military Leave

1. The Board agrees to comply with provisions of 70 O.S. § 6-105, relating to military leave for teachers.

Section 6: Family Leave

A. The Board shall provide leave in accordance with the requirements of the Family and Medical Leave Act ("FMLA"). See relevant board policies and administrative regulations for specific requirements, including unique rules for educators. Board policy and/or administrative regulation provides benefits above the minimum required by FMLA. The District may not change the extra benefits for members of this bargaining unit, without the parties agreeing to such changes in a bargaining session or memorandum of understanding.

Section 7: Non-cumulative Leave Without Pay

- A. A teacher may, upon application and approval thereof, be granted a leave of absence without pay for personal illness, maternity or paternity, illness in the immediate family, military service, teaching abroad, professional study, industrial leave for maintaining Career Tech certification, rearing a child, or election to public office.
- B. No one, unless exempted by law, shall be eligible to apply for a leave of absence until such time as a minimum of two (2) years of qualifying service has been completed with the District.
- C. Leaves of absence for teaching abroad and professional study for the following school year will not be approved after July 31.
- D. All leaves of absence, but those excepted by law, shall be for one (1) contractual year or for the remainder of the contractual year if it has begun. Reinstatement may be approved during that period if the services of the teacher are needed.
 - 1. Renewal of unpaid leaves of absence may be granted upon request for one (1) additional year unless otherwise provided for in this Agreement.
- E. Requests for reinstatement following a leave of absence or an extension of a leave of absence shall be filed in Human Resources on or before April 15 for the following contractual school year.
- F. Normally, a teacher shall return to the teacher's assignment at the beginning of the contractual year. Exceptions to this procedure shall be at the discretion of Human Resources when it can be established that a bona fide need exists for the teacher's services.
 - 1. A teacher failing to submit a request for reinstatement terminates affiliation with the Board of Education at the expiration of the leave of absence.
 - 2. A teacher reinstated following a leave of absence shall be assigned to the school or department from which the leave of absence was granted if an appropriate vacancy exists.
 - 3. A teacher returning from a leave of absence shall be subject to the same conditions of assignments as a regular teacher on duty.
- G. While a teacher is on leave of absence without pay, other than for medical reasons, sick leave allowances

shall not accrue, nor will sick leave time be lost.

- Salary steps based on additional experience will not be granted for the period of absence except when special provisions related to military leaves, teachers' exchange programs, and teaching abroad are applicable.
- 2. Although the leave of absence will not be considered as a break in employment, the period of absence will not be counted toward seniority.
- H. Upon reinstatement following a leave of absence for teaching abroad or for professional study, a teacher will normally be expected to complete three (3) additional years of qualifying service with the District before becoming eligible for another such leave of absence.
- Any teacher granted an unpaid leave of absence under this article may continue to participate in any
 insurance program available to Board employees through payroll deduction by payment of the required
 premium to the Payroll Department so long as this is not in conflict with the provisions of the insurance
 policy.

Section 8: Deduction for Unpaid Absences

- A. Should it become necessary for a teacher to be absent for any reason which does not qualify the absence for leave with pay, there shall be deducted from the absent teacher's salary, for each work day of unqualified absence, an amount equal to the daily rate of pay per contract year.
- B. Teachers who are placed on automatic leave of absence without pay pursuant to paragraph A. shall be ineligible to accrue benefits after the effective date of this leave.
- C. Teachers shall not earn nor suffer loss of salary or accumulated leave on non-workdays.

Section 9: Abandonment

An employee who is absent from duty for five (5) consecutive duty days without notification or authorization shall be deemed to have abandoned and resigned their position effective at the beginning of the unauthorized absence. The separation of the employee will be reported as a resignation by abandonment of position and a request to hold the employee's Teaching Certificate for the remainder of the school year shall be made to the State Department of Education.

ARTICLE XV – Compensation

Section 1: Schedules

	Ok	dahoma City Public	Schools - FY25 Teacher Salary	Schedule
Regular Teachers		**Adr	ministrative Interns	Schedule 001
Nurses	Nurses		tructional Coaches	181 days
**Homeb	ound Tea	chers **Inst	ructional Facilitators	Base Schedule
		'	Base Salary	
Yrs Expr	STEP	Bachelor	Master	Doctorate
0	0	\$45,250	\$46,450	\$48,150
1	1	\$45,550	\$46,750	\$48,450
2	2	\$45,850	\$47,050	\$48,750
3	3	\$46,150	\$47,350	\$49,050
4	4	\$46,550	\$47,750	\$49,450
5	5	\$47,950	\$49,150	\$50,850
6	6	\$48,450	\$49,650	\$51,350
7	7	\$48,950	\$50,150	\$51,850
8	8	\$49,450	\$50,650	\$52,350
9	9	\$49,950	\$51,150	\$52,850
10	10	\$51,450	\$53,650	\$55,350
11	11	\$52,300	\$54,500	\$56,200
12	12	\$52,900	\$55,100	\$56,800
13	13	\$53,500	\$55,700	\$57,400
14	14	\$54,100	\$56,300	\$58,000
15	15	\$56,000	\$58,200	\$59,900
16	16	\$56,900	\$59,100	\$60,800
17	17	\$58,300	\$60,500	\$62,200
18	18	\$60,700	\$62,900	\$64,600
19	19	\$62,900	\$65,100	\$66,800
20	20	\$64,500	\$66,700	\$68,400
21	21	\$65,350	\$67,550	\$69,250
22	22	\$66,100	\$68,300	\$70,000
23	23	\$66,700	\$68,900	\$70,600
24	24	\$67,300	\$69,500	\$71,200
25	25	\$68,235	\$70,435	\$72,135
25+	26	\$68,835	\$71,035	\$72,735

*Salary schedule education lanes for Bachelors +15 and Masters +30 expired 12/31/20. Current/eligible employees employed in those lanes as of 12/31/2020 will be grandfathered in until separation or retirement. Accordingly, respective lane information is not presented but is available upon request.

** See ARTICLE XV - Compensation, Section 7

District Paid Life: \$35,000 of term life insurance (\$75.60 annual benefit).

Health Insurance: Insurance through OMES Flexible Benefit Allowance for Major Medical - Teachers enrolled in District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive **\$679.62 per month /\$8,155.44 annually** as Flexible Benefit Allowance (FBA) towards the cost of the employees' medical insurance for calendar year 2024. Calendar Year 2025 amounts have not been established. Any excess FBA over the cost of the major medical coverage may be used to purchase additional benefits or may be taken as taxable compensation.

Cash in Lieu of Flexible Benefit Allowance: Teachers not enrolled in the District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive \$69.71 per month/\$836.52 annually in lieu of health insurance with proof of other group coverage.

Oklahoma City Public Schools - FY25 Teacher Salary Schedule					
Special E	ducation T	eachers		Schedule 003	
				181 days	
		Base + 5%			
			Base Salary		
Yrs Expr	STEP	Bachelor	Master	Doctorate	
0	0	\$47,513	\$48,773	\$50,558	
1	1	\$47,828	\$49,088	\$50,873	
2	2	\$48,143	\$49,403	\$51,188	
3	3	\$48,458	\$49,718	\$51,503	
4	4	\$48,878	\$50,138	\$51,923	
5	5	\$50,348	\$51,608	\$53,393	
6	6	\$50,873	\$52,133	\$53,918	
7	7	\$51,398	\$52,658	\$54,443	
8	8	\$51,923	\$53,183	\$54,968	
9	9	\$52,448	\$53,708	\$55,493	
10	10	\$54,023	\$56,333	\$58,118	
11	11	\$54,915	\$57,225	\$59,010	
12	12	\$55,545	\$57,855	\$59,640	
13	13	\$56,175	\$58,485	\$60,270	
14	14	\$56,805	\$59,115	\$60,900	
15	15	\$58,800	\$61,110	\$62,895	
16	16	\$59,745	\$62,055	\$63,840	
17	17	\$61,215	\$63,525	\$65,310	
18	18	\$63,735	\$66,045	\$67,830	
19	19	\$66,045	\$68,355	\$70,140	
20	20	\$67,725	\$70,035	\$71,820	
21	21	\$68,618	\$70,928	\$72,713	
22	22	\$69,405	\$71,715	\$73,500	
23	23	\$70,035	\$72,345	\$74,130	
24	24	\$70,665	\$72,975	\$74,760	
25	25	\$71,647	\$73,957	\$75,742	
25+	26	\$72,277	\$74,587	\$76,372	

*Salary schedule education lanes for Bachelors +15 and Masters +30 expired 12/31/20. Current/eligible employees employed in those lanes as of 12/31/2020 will be grandfathered in until separation or retirement. Accordingly, respective lane information is not presented but is available upon request.

** See ARTICLE XV - Compensation, Section 7

District Paid Life: \$35,000 of term life insurance (\$75.60 annual benefit).

Health Insurance: Insurance through OMES Flexible Benefit Allowance for Major Medical - Teachers enrolled in District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive **\$679.62 per month /\$8,155.44 annually** as Flexible Benefit Allowance (FBA) towards the cost of the employees' medical insurance for calendar year 2024. Calendar Year 2025 amounts have not been established. Any excess FBA over the cost of the major medical coverage may be used to purchase additional benefits or may be taken as taxable compensation.

Cash in Lieu of Flexible Benefit Allowance: Teachers not enrolled in the District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive \$69.71 per month/\$836.52 annually in lieu of health insurance with proof of other group coverage.

Oklahoma City Public Schools - FY25 Teacher Salary Schedule							
Career Te	ech			Schedule 004			
**Agricu	lture Teac	cher		196 days			
			Base Schedule + 8.3% + 2,000				
	Base Salary						
Yrs Expr	STEP	Bachelor	Master	Doctorate			
0	0	\$51,006	\$52,306	\$54,147			
1	1	\$51,331	\$52,631	\$54,472			
2	2	\$51,656	\$52,956	\$54,797			
3	3	\$51,981	\$53,281	\$55,122			
4	4	\$52,414	\$53,714	\$55,555			
5	5	\$53,930	\$55,230	\$57,071			
6	6	\$54,472	\$55,771	\$57,613			
7	7	\$55,013	\$56,313	\$58,154			
8	8	\$55,555	\$56,854	\$58,696			
9	9	\$56,096	\$57,396	\$59,237			
10	10	\$57,721	\$60,103	\$61,945			
11	11	\$58,641	\$61,024	\$62,865			
12	12	\$59,291	\$61,674	\$63,515			
13	13	\$59,941	\$62,324	\$64,165			
14	14	\$60,591	\$62,973	\$64,814			
15	15	\$62,648	\$65,031	\$66,872			
16	16	\$63,623	\$66,006	\$67,847			
17	17	\$65,139	\$67,522	\$69,363			
18	18	\$67,739	\$70,121	\$71,962			
19	19	\$70,121	\$72,504	\$74,345			
20	20	\$71,854	\$74,237	\$76,078			
21	21	\$72,775	\$75,157	\$76,998			
22	22	\$73,587	\$75,969	\$77,810			
23	23	\$74,237	\$76,619	\$78,460			
24	24	\$74,886	\$77,269	\$79,110			
25	25	\$75,899	\$78,282	\$80,123			
25+	26	\$76,549	\$78,932	\$80,773			

*Salary schedule education lanes for Bachelors +15 and Masters +30 expired 12/31/20. Current/eligible employees employed in those lanes as of 12/31/2020 will be grandfathered in until separation or retirement. Accordingly, respective lane information is not presented but is available upon request.

** See ARTICLE XV - Compensation, Section 7

District Paid Life: \$35,000 of term life insurance (\$75.60 annual benefit).

Health Insurance: Insurance through OMES Flexible Benefit Allowance for Major Medical - Teachers enrolled in District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive **\$679.62 per month /\$8,155.44 annually** as Flexible Benefit Allowance (FBA) towards the cost of the employees' medical insurance for calendar year 2024. Calendar Year 2025 amounts have not been established. Any excess FBA over the cost of the major medical coverage may be used to purchase additional benefits or may be taken as taxable compensation.

Cash in Lieu of Flexible Benefit Allowance: Teachers not enrolled in the District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive \$69.71 per month/\$836.52 annually in lieu of health insurance with proof of other group coverage.

	Okl	ahoma City Public Sc	hools - FY25 Teacher Sala	ary Schedule
Speech 8	k Language	Pathologists		Schedule 005
				181 days
				Base + 5% + \$5,000
			Base Salary	
Yrs Expr	STEP	Bachelor	Master	Doctorate
0	0	\$52,513	\$53,773	\$55,558
1	1	\$52,828	\$54,088	\$55,873
2	2	\$53,143	\$54,403	\$56,188
3	3	\$53,458	\$54,718	\$56,503
4	4	\$53,878	\$55,138	\$56,923
5	5	\$55,348	\$56,608	\$58,393
6	6	\$55,873	\$57,133	\$58,918
7	7	\$56,398	\$57,658	\$59,443
8	8	\$56,923	\$58,183	\$59,968
9	9	\$57,448	\$58,708	\$60,493
10	10	\$59,023	\$61,333	\$63,118
11	11	\$59,915	\$62,225	\$64,010
12	12	\$60,545	\$62,855	\$64,640
13	13	\$61,175	\$63,485	\$65,270
14	14	\$61,805	\$64,115	\$65,900
15	15	\$63,800	\$66,110	\$67,895
16	16	\$64,745	\$67,055	\$68,840
17	17	\$66,215	\$68,525	\$70,310
18	18	\$68,735	\$71,045	\$72,830
19	19	\$71,045	\$73,355	\$75,140
20	20	\$72,725	\$75,035	\$76,820
21	21	\$73,618	\$75,928	\$77,713
22	22	\$74,405	\$76,715	\$78,500
23	23	\$75,035	\$77,345	\$79,130
24	24	\$75,665	\$77,975	\$79,760
25	25	\$76,647	\$78,957	\$80,742
25+	26	\$77,277	\$79,587	\$81,372

*Salary schedule education lanes for Bachelors +15 and Masters +30 expired 12/31/20. Current/eligible employees employed in those lanes as of 12/31/2020 will be grandfathered in until separation or retirement. Accordingly, respective lane information is not presented but is available upon request.

** See ARTICLE XV – Compensation, Section 7

District Paid Life: \$35,000 of term life insurance (\$75.60 annual benefit).

Health Insurance: Insurance through OMES Flexible Benefit Allowance for Major Medical - Teachers enrolled in District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive **\$679.62 per month /\$8,155.44 annually** as Flexible Benefit Allowance (FBA) towards the cost of the employees' medical insurance for calendar year 2024. Calendar Year 2025 amounts have not been established. Any excess FBA over the cost of the major medical coverage may be used to purchase additional benefits or may be taken as taxable compensation.

Cash in Lieu of Flexible Benefit Allowance: Teachers not enrolled in the District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive \$69.71 per month/\$836.52 annually in lieu of health insurance with proof of other group coverage.

	Okl	ahoma City Public Sc	hools - FY25 Teacher Sala	ary Schedule
Media S _l	pecialist			Schedule 006
				201 days
				Base + 19.985%
			Base Salary	
Yrs Expr	STEP	Bachelor	Master	Doctorate
0	0	\$54,294	\$55,734	\$57,773
1	1	\$54,654	\$56,093	\$58,133
2	2	\$55,014	\$56,453	\$58,493
3	3	\$55,374	\$56,813	\$58,853
4	4	\$55,854	\$57,293	\$59,333
5	5	\$57,533	\$58,973	\$61,013
6	6	\$58,133	\$59,573	\$61,613
7	7	\$58,733	\$60,173	\$62,213
8	8	\$59,333	\$60,773	\$62,813
9	9	\$59,933	\$61,373	\$63,413
10	10	\$61,733	\$64,372	\$66,412
11	11	\$62,753	\$65,392	\$67,432
12	12	\$63,473	\$66,112	\$68,152
13	13	\$64,192	\$66,832	\$68,872
14	14	\$64,912	\$67,552	\$69,592
15	15	\$67,192	\$69,832	\$71,872
16	16	\$68,272	\$70,912	\$72,951
17	17	\$69,952	\$72,591	\$74,631
18	18	\$72,831	\$75,471	\$77,511
19	19	\$75,471	\$78,111	\$80,150
20	20	\$77,391	\$80,030	\$82,070
21	21	\$78,411	\$81,050	\$83,090
22	22	\$79,311	\$81,950	\$83,990
23	23	\$80,030	\$82,670	\$84,710
24	24	\$80,750	\$83,390	\$85,430
25	25	\$81,872	\$84,512	\$86,552
25+	26	\$82,592	\$85,232	\$87,272

*Salary schedule education lanes for Bachelors +15 and Masters +30 expired 12/31/20. Current/eligible employees employed in those lanes as of 12/31/2020 will be grandfathered in until separation or retirement. Accordingly, respective lane information is not presented but is available upon request.

** See ARTICLE XV – Compensation, Section 7

District Paid Life: \$35,000 of term life insurance (\$75.60 annual benefit).

Health Insurance: Insurance through OMES Flexible Benefit Allowance for Major Medical - Teachers enrolled in District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive **\$679.62 per month /\$8,155.44 annually** as Flexible Benefit Allowance (FBA) towards the cost of the employees' medical insurance for calendar year 2024. Calendar Year 2025 amounts have not been established. Any excess FBA over the cost of the major medical coverage may be used to purchase additional benefits or may be taken as taxable compensation.

Cash in Lieu of Flexible Benefit Allowance: Teachers not enrolled in the District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive \$69.71 per month/\$836.52 annually in lieu of health insurance with proof of other group coverage.

Oklahoma City Public Schools - FY25 Teacher Salary Schedule					
Psycholo	gists			Schedule 014	
				196 days	
				Base + 27%	
		j	Base Salary		
Yrs Expr	STEP	Bachelor	Master	Doctorate	
0	0		\$58,992	\$61,151	
1	1	,	\$59,373	\$61,532	
2	2		\$59,754	\$61,913	
3	3		\$60,135	\$62,294	
4	4		\$60,643	\$62,802	
5	5		\$62,421	\$64,580	
6	6		\$63,056	\$65,215	
7	7		\$63,691	\$65,850	
8	8		\$64,326	\$66,485	
9	9		\$64,961	\$67,120	
10	10		\$68,136	\$70,295	
11	11	,	\$69,215	\$71,374	
12	12		\$69,977	\$72,136	
13	13		\$70,739	\$72,898	
14	14		\$71,501	\$73,660	
15	15		\$73,914	\$76,073	
16	16		\$75,057	\$77,216	
17	17		\$76,835	\$78,994	
18	18		\$79,883	\$82,042	
19	19		\$82,677	\$84,836	
20	20		\$84,709	\$86,868	
21	21		\$85,789	\$87,948	
22	22		\$86,741	\$88,900	
23	23		\$87,503	\$89,662	
24	24		\$88,265	\$90,424	
25	25		\$89,453	\$91,612	
25+	26		\$90,215	\$92,374	

*Salary schedule education lanes for Bachelors +15 and Masters +30 expired 12/31/20. Current/eligible employees employed in those lanes as of 12/31/2020 will be grandfathered in until separation or retirement. Accordingly, respective lane information is not presented but is available upon request.

** See ARTICLE XV - Compensation, Section 7

District Paid Life: \$35,000 of term life insurance (\$75.60 annual benefit).

Health Insurance: Insurance through OMES Flexible Benefit Allowance for Major Medical - Teachers enrolled in District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive **\$679.62 per month /\$8,155.44 annually** as Flexible Benefit Allowance (FBA) towards the cost of the employees' medical insurance for calendar year 2024. Calendar Year 2025 amounts have not been established. Any excess FBA over the cost of the major medical coverage may be used to purchase additional benefits or may be taken as taxable compensation.

Cash in Lieu of Flexible Benefit Allowance: Teachers not enrolled in the District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive \$69.71 per month/\$836.52 annually in lieu of health insurance with proof of other group coverage.

	Ok	dahoma City Public Sc	hools - FY25 Teacher Salar	y Schedule
Element	ary Counse	elors		Schedule 015
				181 days
				Base + 7%
			Base Salary	
Yrs Expr	STEP	Bachelor	Master	Doctorate
0	0	,	\$49,702	\$51,521
1	1		\$50,023	\$51,842
2	2		\$50,344	\$52,163
3	3		\$50,665	\$52,484
4	4		\$51,093	\$52,912
5	5		\$52,591	\$54,410
6	6		\$53,126	\$54,945
7	7		\$53,661	\$55,480
8	8		\$54,196	\$56,015
9	9		\$54,731	\$56,550
10	10		\$57,406	\$59,225
11	11		\$58,315	\$60,134
12	12		\$58,957	\$60,776
13	13		\$59,599	\$61,418
14	14		\$60,241	\$62,060
15	15		\$62,274	\$64,093
16	16		\$63,237	\$65,056
17	17		\$64,735	\$66,554
18	18		\$67,303	\$69,122
19	19		\$69,657	\$71,476
20	20		\$71,369	\$73,188
21	21		\$72,279	\$74,098
22	22		\$73,081	\$74,900
23	23		\$73,723	\$75,542
24	24		\$74,365	\$76,184
25	25		\$75,366	\$77,185
25+	26		\$76,008	\$77,827

*Salary schedule education lanes for Bachelors +15 and Masters +30 expired 12/31/20. Current/eligible employees employed in those lanes as of 12/31/2020 will be grandfathered in until separation or retirement. Accordingly, respective lane information is not presented but is available upon request.

** See ARTICLE XV - Compensation, Section 7

District Paid Life: \$35,000 of term life insurance (\$75.60 annual benefit).

Health Insurance: Insurance through OMES Flexible Benefit Allowance for Major Medical - Teachers enrolled in District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive **\$679.62 per month /\$8,155.44 annually** as Flexible Benefit Allowance (FBA) towards the cost of the employees' medical insurance for calendar year 2024. Calendar Year 2025 amounts have not been established. Any excess FBA over the cost of the major medical coverage may be used to purchase additional benefits or may be taken as taxable compensation.

Cash in Lieu of Flexible Benefit Allowance: Teachers not enrolled in the District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive \$69.71 per month/\$836.52 annually in lieu of health insurance with proof of other group coverage.

	Ok	lahoma City Public Sc	hools - FY25 Teacher Salar	y Schedule
Seconda	ry Counseld	ors		Schedule 016
Newcom	er Graduat		196 days	
			Base + 17%	
			Base Salary	
Yrs Expr	STEP	Bachelor	Master	Doctorate
0	0		\$54,347	\$56,336
1	1		\$54,698	\$56,687
2	2		\$55,049	\$57,038
3	3		\$55,400	\$57,389
4	4		\$55,868	\$57,857
5	5		\$57,506	\$59,495
6	6		\$58,091	\$60,080
7	7		\$58,676	\$60,665
8	8		\$59,261	\$61,250
9	9		\$59,846	\$61,835
10	10		\$62,771	\$64,760
11	11		\$63,765	\$65,754
12	12		\$64,467	\$66,456
13	13		\$65,169	\$67,158
14	14		\$65,871	\$67,860
15	15		\$68,094	\$70,083
16	16		\$69,147	\$71,136
17	17		\$70,785	\$72,774
18	18		\$73,593	\$75,582
19	19		\$76,167	\$78,156
20	20		\$78,039	\$80,028
21	21		\$79,034	\$81,023
22	22		\$79,911	\$81,900
23	23		\$80,613	\$82,602
24	24		\$81,315	\$83,304
25	25		\$82,409	\$84,398
25+	26		\$83,111	\$85,100

*Salary schedule education lanes for Bachelors +15 and Masters +30 expired 12/31/20. Current/eligible employees employed in those lanes as of 12/31/2020 will be grandfathered in until separation or retirement. Accordingly, respective lane information is not presented but is available upon request.

** See ARTICLE XV - Compensation, Section 7

District Paid Life: \$35,000 of term life insurance (\$75.60 annual benefit).

Health Insurance: Insurance through OMES Flexible Benefit Allowance for Major Medical - Teachers enrolled in District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive **\$679.62 per month /\$8,155.44 annually** as Flexible Benefit Allowance (FBA) towards the cost of the employees' medical insurance for calendar year 2024. Calendar Year 2025 amounts have not been established. Any excess FBA over the cost of the major medical coverage may be used to purchase additional benefits or may be taken as taxable compensation.

Cash in Lieu of Flexible Benefit Allowance: Teachers not enrolled in the District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive \$69.71 per month/\$836.52 annually in lieu of health insurance with proof of other group coverage.

- A. JROTC: Minimum Salaries for JROTC certified instructors will be calculated and paid under salary schedule #717, using the following procedure:
 - 1. Annual salary adjustment will be based on the January Military Instructor Pay (MIP) paid no later than three (3) pay cycles after receipt of the January MIP statement by Human Resources and retro-active to January 1 of the current contract year.
 - 2. Only one MIP Adjustment will be made each contract year.
 - 3. The JROTC employee is responsible for ensuring that the correct MIP statement is presented to Human Resources.
 - 4. Length of contract is 215 days.
 - 5. Military longevity that impacts the MIP of individuals during a contract year will be considered on a case by case basis.
 - 6. Individuals impacted by military longevity are responsible for bringing that information to the attention of Human Resources.
 - 7. Military longevity adjustments will be retroactive to the earliest effective date of that increase, but no earlier than the first date of the current contract year.
 - 8. Any Extra Duty stipend amounts are subject to annual negotiations.
 - 9. Any negotiated salary adjustments will be paid retroactive as of the first day of the relevant contract year.
- B. Career Tech Teachers (196 days) shall be placed on Schedule 004 and shall receive an annual supplement of thirty percent (30%) to be paid in equal installments throughout the year for the additional days worked.
- C. All other salary schedules shall be indexed from Schedule 001 at the regular rate of indexing.
- D. Teachers who work on a part-time basis shall receive salary proportional to the teacher's workday.
- E. Teachers who were required to report for work prior to the date stated in this Agreement shall be paid retroactive to the first (1st) day of work for the 2024-2025 contract year according to the salary contained in this Agreement.
- F. All teachers shall be paid in twenty-four (24) equal installments.
- G. A teacher whose employment is terminated for any reason shall receive all salary earned on the next scheduled pay date.
- H. Payroll Deductions
 - 1. Payroll deductions for United States Saving Bonds, hospitalization insurance, a flexible compensation plan, Oklahoma City Teachers Credit Union, tax sheltered annuities, United Way, Union membership dues, and political contributions shall be made upon written request of the teacher.
 - All written requests for deductions will be delivered to the Payroll Department. Verification of the receipt
 of the request for deductions will be made by the Payroll Department on a list of names accompanying the
 request.
 - a. The teacher making the written request will be responsible for determining that the deductions are in fact being made as requested.

- No teacher shall be reduced in base compensation without being previously notified in writing. For any benefit
 or compensation deductions, adjustments or corrections resulting in a significant reduction in net pay,
 repayment plan options will be considered.
- J. Mileage Reimbursement Rate
 - 1. The rate of reimbursement for mileage shall be the IRS established rate.

Section 2: Salary Adjustments

- A. Salary Adjustment for Advanced Degrees
 - 1. A teacher who has earned an advanced degree since the preceding fiscal year, and a teacher who was not eligible to receive a pay increase for an advanced degree completed during the preceding fiscal year, shall receive a salary adjustment retroactive to the first (1st) day of work in the current fiscal year; provided, the degree was awarded on or before the first (1st) day of work in the current fiscal year; provided further, Human Resources received two (2) complete and official transcripts of credit (listing the new degree) from an accredited higher education institution; and the State Department of Education, Professional Standards Section, received one (1) complete and official transcript of credit (listing the new degree) from an accredited higher education institution accompanied by a processing fee and written request to place degree on the certificate.
 - When the advanced degree was conferred after the first (1st) day of work in the current fiscal year, the salary adjustment will be retroactive to the date it was conferred; provided, the October 31st deadline for submitting necessary transcripts of credit has been met.
 - 3. Transcripts of new degrees received after October 31st of the current year will not result in retroactive pay, but the salary adjustments will become effective the day they are received by Human Resources.

Salary Adjustment for Credit Hours Above Degree

- alant adius
- B. The Board encourages additional teacher credit hours for salary adjustment through college and university approved study toward certification or beyond certification in contractual areas. Payment for additional hours specified in the salary schedule shall be made on the following basis:
 - a. It shall be a teacher's responsibility to file one (1) complete and official record of credit hours earned
 on or before October 31st of each fiscal year with Human Resources.
 - b. Credits must be earned at an accredited college or university.
 - c. Payment will be retroactive to the beginning of the current fiscal year if the October 31st deadline for submitting necessary transcripts has been met.
 - d. Official transcripts of credits received by Human Resources after the October 31st deadline of the current year will not result in retroactive pay, but salary adjustments will become effective the day records are received by Human Resources.

Section 3: Fringe Benefits

A. Flexible Compensation

- The Board and the Union agree to establish a flexible compensation plan as provided by Section 125
 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, to allow for payment of all tax deductible items
 (medical insurance, non-reimbursable medical expenses, and child care payments).
 - a) The plan shall be administered by a third (3rd) party. The third (3rd) party administrator shall be selected by an equal number of representatives from the District administration and the Union. Selection shall be completed by April 1 for the ensuing school year.

B. Insurance

1. State Flexible Benefit Allowance

- a) Teachers who choose to participate in Major Medical Coverage purchased through the District sponsored Cafeteria Plan.
 - 1) Each full-time teacher who purchases major medical health coverage through the District's Health Insurance Plan shall receive the monthly Flexible Benefit Allowance (FBA) required by the State of Oklahoma. The District will apply the FBA toward the total premium cost of the District's Health Plan. Any excess FBA allowance over the cost of the major medical coverage purchased by the teacher may be used to purchase additional benefits through the District's Section 125 Cafeteria Plan or may be taken as taxable compensation as provided for by law. Part time teachers shall receive the appropriate prorated amounts of the above payments based upon the State Department of Education's determination of eligibility. It is agreed by the parties that should the (FBA) amount required by the state change during the course of this Agreement, the exact amount required by the state will provided to the teacher under the various options discussed in this paragraph. Teachers whose employment is terminated during the school year shall have no right to receive any cash compensation for the portion of the school year after the teacher's termination.
- b) Teachers who choose not to participate in Major Medical Coverage offered through the District sponsored Cafeteria Plan.
 - 1) Full time teachers who choose not to participate in the District Health Insurance Plan shall receive sixty-nine dollars and seventy-one cents (\$69.71) per month which may be applied to options in the District's Section 125 Cafeteria Plan or may be taken as taxable compensation, in lieu of the flexible benefit allowance provided for in Part 1. above. Part time teachers shall receive the appropriate prorated amounts of the above payments based upon the State Department of Education's determination of eligibility. Teachers whose employment is terminated during the school year shall have no right to receive any cash compensation for the portion of the school year after the teacher's termination.

The sum of \$80,000.00 shall be placed in a separate account in the District budget for the purpose of funding the self-insured long-term funds will not be available for the program. This fund will be used to pay substitutes for

those teachers who have been approved for long-term disability benefits under the program as set forth in Article XIV.

- 2. The Board shall provide a \$35,000.00 term life insurance policy for each full-time teacher and a \$18,000.00 term life insurance policy for those teachers on a regular teacher's contract and employed for at least one-half (.5) time. The policy shall also contain an accidental death and dismemberment provision.
 - a) Any future rate increase beyond the current \$5.95 per month for each full-time teacher and \$3.06 per month for those teachers employed for at least one-half (.5) time shall require negotiations between the parties in the next re-opener of the Agreement.

C. Retirement

- 1. The Board shall pay 100% of each teacher's contribution to the Oklahoma Teachers' Retirement System (OTRS). This amount represents seven percent (7%) of the teacher's total compensation.
- 2. State Law provides that the State of Oklahoma shall pay a specific amount to each teacher's individual retirement account with the Oklahoma Teachers' Retirement System.
 - a) The District shall pay each teacher an amount equal to the State's contribution to that teacher's Oklahoma Teachers' Retirement System account. The District's payments to the teacher shall be in equal payday amounts and shall be paid by adjustments on regular salary warrants. This payment shall not replace any negotiated retirement or compensation benefits for teachers.
 - b) The amounts shall be based on years of service credited by Oklahoma Teachers' Retirement System as follows:

Years of Service	Credit Amount	Years of Service	Credit Amount		Years of Service	Credit Amount
0	60.15	9	471.12		18	966.07
1	103.41	10	521.87		19	1,026.38
2	145.65	11	573.67		20	1,087.75
3	188.15	12	626.54		21	1,150.18
4	233.33	13	680.48		22	1,213.68
5	278.76	14	735.47	1	23	1,278.23
6	325.26	15	791.53	8	24	1,343.85
7	372.82	16	848.65		25 or	1,410.53
8	421.44	17	906.83		more	1,410.55

D. Target Resignation

1. The District shall implement a target resignation program.

- a) Teachers in job categories identified for elimination or targeted for reduction by formal announcement of the Superintendent and who submit a resignation in writing on or before the announced deadline shall receive a bonus equal to twenty percent (20%) of their current base salaries.
- b) In order to be eligible, the teacher in the targeted job category must:
 - 1) Hold a continuing contract, and
 - 2) Be employed as a full-time teacher.
 - a) Teachers who accept the target resignation bonus are ineligible for re-employment except as a substitute or as a temporary consultant, for a period of one (1) year following receipt of the bonus.
 - 3) Exceptions may be made by the Superintendent on the condition that the teacher reimburses the amount of the bonus payment to the District prior to reemployment.
- E. Payment for Sick Leave Upon Resignation or Retirement
 - Teachers who retire or resign shall be compensated for each day of accumulated sick leave on the following basis:

Years in District	Reimbursement \$
1-7	20.00
8-12	24.00
13-17	28.00
18-22	32.00
23-26	36.00
27 & over	40.00

- Teachers who are terminated or dismissed by the Board for cause in accordance with the School Laws of Oklahoma and who have been employed by the District for less than ten (10) years will not be entitled to such payment.
- 3. The estate of a teacher who dies while under contract shall receive all monies due under the formula outlined in 1 above as well as other salary and benefits earned.
- F. Vacation Benefits for Twelve (12) Month Employees
 - 1. Teachers employed on a twelve (12) month basis shall be granted a vacation leave of one (1) month consisting of twenty-two (22) days of each fiscal year.

- 2. Those who have completed less than twelve (12) months of a fiscal year of service shall be granted vacation leave on a pro rata basis.
- 3. A proposed vacation schedule shall be approved in advance by the immediate supervisor to whom the employee is responsible.
- 4. Vacation pay shall be paid upon the severance of an employee working on a twelve (12) month basis, to the extent of entitlement.

Section 4: Substitute Teachers

- A. Certified substitute teachers shall receive \$80.00 per day. Certified substitute teachers voluntarily participating in the professional standards program will receive \$85.00 per day.
 - 1. Such program shall be offered during the first and third nine (9) weeks of each school year.

Section 5: Class Coverage

- A. All teachers who are required during their planning period to cover a class for a teacher or adjunct instructor shall be compensated at a rate of \$10.25 for an elementary period, \$17.50 for a middle school period, \$17.50 for a high school seven-period day, and \$26.25 for a high school block period.
- B. All teachers shall be compensated at a rate of \$3.00 per student per day for students assigned to their classroom all day because of an absence of a teacher or adjunct instructor.
 - 1. For less than a full day, teachers compensated according to the rate above shall receive a pro-rated amount for the time students were assigned to their classrooms.
 - Secondary teachers on a four-block schedule shall be compensated at a rate of \$1.00 per student per class period for students assigned to their classroom because of an absence of a teacher or adjunct instructor.
 - 3. Secondary teachers on a regular block schedule shall be compensated at a rate of \$.60 per student per class period for students assigned to their classroom because of an absence of a teacher or adjunct instructor.
- C. All class coverage pay is to be submitted within thirty (30) calendar days of time of coverage.

Section 6: Additional Personnel and Assignments

- A. Teachers employed outside the regular work day/work year, including summer school, shall be compensated at the rate of \$28.00 per hour.
- B. Professional development designated [by Administration] for compensation shall be paid at the rate of \$28.00 per hour.
 - 1. Teachers on Schedule 17 shall not be eligible for the above hourly compensation.
- C. Special education teachers may be hired outside of their regular work day/work year to complete IEPs not in their caseload at the rate of \$50.00 per completed IEP.

Section 7: Extracurricular Activities

A. High School Sports

The 2024-20245bonus scale shall be as follows:

- 1. Coaches advancing to the final team state championship game/match/meet recognized by the Oklahoma Secondary School Activities Association (OSSAA) but who do not win the state championship:
 - a) Head Coach-\$500
 - b) Assistant Coach-\$23
- 2. Coaches winning the final team state championship game/match/meet recognized by the Oklahoma Secondary School Activities Association (OSSAA):
 - a) The 2024-2025 salary supplement and bonus scale for coaches shall be:
 - 1) In order to qualify as a coach of two (2) teams during the same season, the coach shall be solely with each team during separate practice sessions and solely with each team during all tournaments, dual events or other competitive activities.
 - 2) If combined practices and/or combined events, tournaments, or other competitive activities are permitted, the rate of pay specified above will be prorated depending upon the amount of the total time spent solely with each team.
 - 3) Any head coach who wins a state championship in any sport listed above and is recognized by the Oklahoma Secondary School Activities Association (OSSAA) will receive a bonus.
 - 4) Assistant coaches, who are assigned within the sport's allocation, will also receive a bonus; this is in addition to the extracurricular activity pay.
 - 5) When an assistant coach is approved for an activity or sport, where there was previously no assistant coach, the assistant coach will be compensated at 60% of the head coach's stipend.

High School Sports				
	Stipend	Bonus Scale		
Athletic Coordinator	\$8,000	n/a		
Baseball	_			
Head Coach	\$5,000	\$2,000		
Assistant	\$2,400	\$400		
Basketball	2 222			
Head Coach	\$7,500	\$4,000		
Assistant	\$3,200	\$1,000		
Cheerleader				
Head Coach	\$3,500	n/a		
Assistant	\$1,880	n/a		
Cross Country				
Head Coach	\$2,600	\$1,000		
Assistant	\$1,440	\$200		
ESports	\$2,385	n/a		

High School Sports					
	Stipend	Bonus Scale			
Football	•				
Head Coach	\$9,900	\$4,000			
Football DEF/OFF Coordinator	\$4,300				
Assistants	\$3,675	\$1,000			
Golf					
Head Coach	\$2,435	\$1,000			
Assistant	\$1,350	\$200			
Soccer					
Head Coach	\$5,500	\$1,000			
Assistant	\$2,500	n/a			
Softball (Fall 7/15)					
Head Coach	\$5,000	\$2,000			
Assistant	\$2,400	\$400			
Swimming					
Head Coach	\$3,385	\$1,000			
Assistant	\$1,950	\$200			
Tennis	5				
Head Coach	\$2,550	\$1,000			
Assistant	\$1,300	\$200			
Track					
Head Coach	\$3,500	\$2,000			
Assistant	\$1,800	\$400			
Volleyball					
Head Coach	\$3,600	\$1,000			
Assistant	\$1,350	\$200			
Wrestling					
Head Coach	\$5,800	\$2,000			
Assistant	\$2,700	\$400			

B. High School Activities

- 1. Salary Supplement Plan for Advanced Placement Teachers:
 - a. The maximum allowable for off-contract time tutoring is \$3,024 at \$28.00 per hour, three (3) hours per week, thirty-six (36) weeks.
 - b. Student Achievement Bonuses: \$500 for each student that scores a 3, 4, or 5.
- 2. Salary Supplement Plan for International Baccalaureate Teachers:
 - a. Teachers will receive \$1,810 for each IB course (not each class) taught.
 - b. Student Achievement Bonuses:

IB exam score of 7	\$300
IB exam score of 6-5	\$200
IB exam score of 4	\$100

Extended Essay

Grade A (Excellent) 31-36	\$300
Grade B (Good) 26-30	\$200
Grade C (Satisfactory) 18-25	\$100
Theory of Knowledge	
Grade A (Excellent) 26-30	\$300
Grade B (Good) 21-25	\$200
Grade C (Satisfactory) 17-20	\$100
Program Coordinator	

Middle School \$4,000

Diploma Program Coordinator

High School \$4,000

C. Middle School Sports

1. Payment for supervising each middle school sport will be according to the following schedule:

Middle Schools Sports Column I		
Athletic Coordinator	\$4,100	
Baseball		
Coach	\$1,920	
Assistant	\$960	
Basketball		
Coach	\$2,500	
Assistant	\$1,250	
Cheerleader		
Coach	\$1,920	
Assistant	\$960	
Cross-Country		
Coach	\$1,500	
Assistant	\$750	
E-Sports	\$1,000	
Football		
Coach	\$3,250	
Assistant	\$1,695	

Middle Schools Sports Column II	
Soccer	
Coach	\$1,920
Assistant	\$1,000
Softball	
Coach	\$1,920
Assistant	\$960
Track	
Coach	\$1,920
Assistant	\$960
Volleyball	
Coach	\$1,920
Assistant	\$960
Wrestling	
Coach	\$2,600
Assistant	\$1,300

ARTICLE XVI - IMPLEMENTATION

Section 1: Individual Contracts

- A. All terms and clauses of this Agreement shall be considered as clauses of an individual contract between the Board and an individual teacher.
 - 1. If an individual contract contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement, this Agreement during its duration shall be controlling.

Section 2: Distribution of Agreement

A. Not later than sixty (60) days following ratification of this Agreement, the Board shall provide 200 bound copies of this agreement to the Union.

Section 3: Duration

- A. "The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall bind the Union and the Board during the 2022-2023, 2023-2024, and 2024-2025 school years and shall remain in full force and effect and continue to be binding on the parties until superseded or replaced by a subsequent agreement.
 - 1. The parties agree to reopen this Agreement before the 2024-2025 school year at a mutually agreeable date for the purpose of bargaining salaries, fringe benefits, duration, and four (4) other issues submitted by each party.
 - a) Such date for negotiations shall be established by a Procedural Agreement.

Section 4: Conformity to Law-Savings Clause

A. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is or shall at any time be held to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction from whose final judgment or decree no appeal has been taken within the time provided for doing so, all other provisions of this Agreement shall continue in effect. Any substitute action shall be subject to appropriate consultation and negotiation with the Union

Section 5: Agreement

This Agreement constitutes the full and complete Agreement between the Board and the Union.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE UNION AND THE BOARD HAVE SET THEIR SIGNATURES

ON THE <u>8th</u> DAY OF <u>January</u>, 20242025

Paula Lewis, Chairperson Board of Education

Oklahoma City Public Schools, I-89

Craig A. Cates, Board Clerk
Oklahoma City Public Schools

Approved by the OKCPS BOE August 19, 2024, item # 18.03

Mill Rufe

Torie Luster Pennington (Jan 8, 2025 10:13 CST)

Torie Luster Pennington, President

AFT Local 2309 of the American Federation of Teachers AFL-CIO of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

APPENDIX A - OKCPS Stipend Summary Schedule

(Revised 10/2024)

Line #	Stipend Description	Amount
Element	ary School Stipend Schedules	
1	ES Art	\$350
2	ES Music	\$350
3	ES PE	\$350
4	ES SPED Coordinator	\$400
5	DISCRETIONARY FUNDS: To be used for approved activities with specific expectations.	\$650
Middle S	ichool Stipend Schedules	
6	MS Chair English	\$500
7	MS Chair History/Social Studies (<7 Teachers)	\$750
8	MS Chair History/Social Studies (≥7 Teachers)	\$1,250
9	MS Chair Math (<7 Teachers)	\$750
10	MS Chair Math (≥7 Teachers)	\$1,250
11	MS Chair Science (<7 Teachers)	\$750
12	MS Chair Science (≥7 Teachers)	\$1,250
13	MS Chair - SPED (2 - 5 Teachers)	\$500
14	MS Chair - SPED (6 - 9 Teachers)	\$1,000
15	MS Chair - SPED (=/> 10 Teachers)	\$2,000
16	MS English Language Arts (ELA) - Dept Chair (<7 Teachers)	\$750
17	MS English Language Arts (ELA) - Dept Chair (≥7 Teachers)	\$1,250
18	MS English Language Development (ELD) - Dept Chair (<4 Teachers)	\$500
19	MS English Language Development (ELD) - Dept Chair (≥4 Teachers) Teacher, Min. 1)	\$1,000
20	MS Band (with HS Collaboration)	\$4,545
21	MS Band (Belle Isle Only)	\$3,545
22	MS Dance	\$500
23	MS Drama	\$500
24	MS Strings	\$1,700
25	MS Piano	\$750
26	MS Vocal Music	\$1,800
27	MS Yearbook/Newspaper	\$975
28	MS STEM	\$1,000
29	DISCRETIONARY FUNDS: To be used for approved activities with specific expectations.	\$1,500

Line #	Stipend Description	Amount
30	HS Chair - English (< 7 Teachers)	\$1,000
31	HS Chair - English (≥ 7 Teachers)	\$2,000
32	HS Chair - History/Social Studies (<7 Teachers)	\$1,000
33	HS Chair - History/Social Studies (≥ 7 Teachers)	\$2,000
34	HS Chair - Math (<7 Teachers)	\$1,000
35	HS Chair - Math (≥ 7 Teachers)	\$2,000
36	HS Chair - Science (< 7 Teachers)	\$1,000
37	HS Chair - Science (≥ 7 Teachers)	\$2,000
38	HS Chair - SPED (2 - 5 Teachers)	\$500
39	HS Chair - SPED (6 - 9 Teachers)	\$1,000
40	HS Chair - SPED (≥ 10 Teachers)	\$2,000
41	HS Chair - English Language Development (ELD) (≥ 4 Teachers)	\$1,000
42	HS Chair - English Language Development (ELD) (<4 Teacher, Minimum 1)	\$500
43	HS Academic Coach	\$1,810
44	HS Freshman Sponsor	\$350
45	HS Sophomore Sponsor	\$350
46	HS Junior Sponsor	\$1,500
47	HS Senior Sponsor	\$1,500
48	*removed Junior / Senior Sponsor	
49	HS Band (with MS Collaboration)	\$7,700
50	HS Band OSSAA Sweepstakes (per EA Award)	\$720
51	HS Choir OSSAA Sweepstakes (per EA Award)	\$720
52	HS Orchestra OSSAA Sweepstakes (per EA Award)	\$720
53	HS Vocal Music	\$3,585
54	HS Guitar	\$2,685
55	HS Piano	\$2,685
56	HS Strings	\$2,685
57	HS Dance	\$1,930
58	HS Debate	\$2,180
59	HS Drama	\$1,930
60	HS Student Council	\$1,000
61	HS Newspaper	\$1,260
62	HS Yearbook	\$1,735
63	DISCRETIONARY FUNDS: To be used for approved activities with specific expectations.	\$2,230

Site Title I Funds (1 per site – previously paid per hour)

Line #	Stipend Description	Amount
101	Elementary Science Lead	\$500
102	Elementary Social Studies Lead	\$500
103	Elementary ELA Lead	\$500
104	Elementary Math Lead	\$500
105	Secondary Gifted & Talented Coordinator	\$400
106	Elementary LinkIt! Champion	\$400
107	Secondary LinkIt! Champion	\$400
108	Secondary AVID Coordinator	\$400

OTHER STIPENDS			
Line #	Stipend Description	Amount	
109	Academies Coordinator	Base + \$4,200	
110	Administrative Interns (191 days)	\$6,000	
111	Agriculture Teacher (242 days)	Base + 30%	
112	District Chair Elementary – Art	\$1,600	
113	District Chair Elementary – Music	\$1,600	
114	District Chair Secondary – Band	\$1,600	
115	District Chair Secondary – Choir	\$1,600	
116	District Chair Secondary – Dance	\$1,600	
117	District Chair Secondary – Guitar	\$1,600	
118	District Chair Secondary – Orchestra	\$1,600	
119	District Chair Secondary – Piano	\$1,600	
120	District Chair Secondary – Theater	\$1,600	
121	District Chair Secondary – Visual Art	\$1,600	
122	District Chair Elementary – Social Studies	\$1,600	
123	Homebound Teachers	\$600	
124	Instructional Coaches (191 days)	\$6,000	
125	JROTC	\$2,400	
126	JROTC: Master's Degree	\$400	
127	Library Cataloger (8) Districtwide	\$500	
128	*Special Education: School Psychologist Specialist	\$1,500	
129	**Special Education: School Psychologist Autism Team	\$800	
130	***Lead It Year 2: Lead Teacher	\$1,680	
131	****Lead OKCPS Year 2: Lead Teacher	\$3,000	

- * One stipend for the lead school psychologist in the following areas: Interns and PK, Bilingual, Behavior, and Extended Educational Services.
- ** One stipend for each of the 6 school psychologists on the Autism Team. These individuals are responsible for evaluation of students for identifying or ruling out suspected Autism. Case review, Consultation services for other school psychologist.

*** Sustainability Plan: LEAD IT! (2 years)

L-Leadership E-Empowerment A-Accountability D-Development I-Innovation T-Transformation

- Current Schools (8) 2 Middle, 6 Elementary
- Sustainability Stipend Structure: See Items 130 & 131 in the above table
 - Up to 6 hours a month of PD/Collaborative Planning
- Two days Summer Institute
- Mentorship with another LEAD site
- Additional IC (if applicable based on needs-and budget allowances)

****New Partnership: LEAD OKCPS (4 years – 2-year partnership and 2 years in sustainability) L-Leadership E-Empowerment A-Accountability D-Development

- Schools 7 4 Elementary, 1 Middle School, 2 High School
 - O Stipend Structure: See Item 132 in the above table
- 6 hours a month of PD/Collaborative planning
- 3 Days of Summer Institute
- Additional IC (if applicable based on needs-and budget allowances)

homa City AFT(OKC-AFT)	- Local 2	2309		
MEMBERSHIP APPLIC	ATION			
from each warrant an amount equal to cancellation. my deduction in compliance with any c C-AFT and understand that the OKC-A	hange in dues	voted by the membership	and certified by	the OKC-AFT.
			HOME	
		å Ren		
CITY			STATE	ZIP
@okcps.org	HOME EMAIL		800	
Full-Time Teacher	Part-Time Teacher	ASSIGNMENT		
		DATE		
OMMITTEE ON POLITICAL F	DUCATIO	N (COPE) DEDUCT	ION	
that the signing of this authorization a	nd the making	of payments to the OKC-	AFT COPE are no	
\$		per warrant		
	MEMBERSHIP APPLIC DOLS If from each warrant an amount equal to cancellation, my deduction in compliance with any of CAFT and understand that the OKCA and legal defense, are contingent upor CITY @okcps.org Full-Time Teacher OMMITTEE ON POLITICAL Estate the signing of this authorization are	MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION DOLS If from each warrant an amount equal to my annual Oricancellation. my deduction in compliance with any change in dues C-AFT and understand that the OKC-AFT is complete and legal defense, are contingent upon paid OKC-AI CELL PHONE CITY Wokcps.org HOME EMAIL Full-Time Teacher Teacher OMMITTEE ON POLITICAL EDUCATION that the signing of this authorization and the making	CITY CITY COKCPS.org End. HOME Teacher Teacher Teacher Teacher Teacher COMMITTEE ON POLITICAL EDUCATION (COPE) DEDUCT That the signing of this authorization and the making of payments to the OKC-Board of Education, and the OKC-AFT COPE will use the money it receives to	MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION DOLS If from each warrant an amount equal to my annual OKC-AFT dues as certified by the OKC-AFT, cancellation. my deduction in compliance with any change in dues voted by the membership and certified by C-AFT and understand that the OKC-AFT is completely responsible to me for the disposition of and legal defense, are contingent upon paid OKC-AFT membership. CELL HOME PHONE CITY STATE HOME EMAIL Full-Time Part-Time Teacher ASSIGNMENT DATE OMMITTEE ON POLITICAL EDUCATION (COPE) DEDUCTION It hat the signing of this authorization and the making of payments to the OKC-AFT COPE are not Board of Education, and the OKC-AFT COPE will use the money it receives to make political co

APPENDIX C - Alternate Student Placement

District and Union agree that disruptive student behavior affects student learning. Therefore, the parties agree to research successful alternative placements options and begin to construct and develop an implementation plan for future school years. Recommendations that are developed will be considered in the budget process. (9/13/10)

APPENDIX D - Joint Contract Training

This agreement is between Oklahoma City Public Schools, District I-89 ("District") and the Oklahoma City AFT, Local 2309 ("Union") No other promises, implied or expressed are made other than those appearing in this recital as made during negotiations on August 9, 2012.

Four (4) hours of joint annual CBA training of Principals and AFT worksite leaders.

APPENDIX E – Substitute Program and Class Coverage MOU



TO: Torie Pennington

AFT President

FROM: Brad Herzer

OKCPS Assistant Superintendent

DATE: November 4, 2024

RE: Memorandum of Understanding - Substitute Program (Article IX; Section 1)

This Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") is between Oklahoma City Public Schools, District I-89 ("District") and the Oklahoma City AFT, Local 2309 ("Union"). No other promises, implied or expressed, are made other than those appearing in this recital.

This agreement has not been incorporated in the Collective Bargaining Agreement and shall become effective for the 2024-2025 school year and will be reviewed and renegotiated for the 2025-2026 school year.

1. Article IX: Special Teachers and Services - Section 1: Certified Substitutes

For the 2024-2025 school year, this MOU will supersede sections of the contract pertaining to substitutes. During this time, Kelly Employment Services will administer the substitute program for Oklahoma City Public Schools effective July 1, 2024. Certified substitutes will continue to receive compensation in the amount of \$125 per day.

Torie Luster (Nov 12, 2024 13:27 CST)	Nov 12, 2024
Torie Pennington	 Date
President, AFT	
Brad Herzer	Nov 12, 2024
Brad Herzer	 Date
Assistant Superintendent, OKCPS	

P.O. Box 36609, Oklahoma City, OK 73136 Phone: 405-587-1000 | web: www.okcps.org

2024-2025 American Federation of Teachers Collective Bargaining Agreement Appendix F – MOU: Extended Contracts for Emergency Certified Teachers



TO: Torie Pennington

AFT President

FROM: Brad Herzer

OKCPS Assistant Superintendent

DATE: November 4, 2024

RE: Memorandum of Understanding- Extended Contracts for Emergency Certified Teachers

This Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") is between Oklahoma City Public Schools, District I-89 ("District") and the Oklahoma City AFT, Local 2309 ("Union"). No other promises, implied or expressed, are made other than those appearing in this recital.

This agreement has not been incorporated in the Collective Bargaining Agreement and shall be in effect for the 2024-2025 school year, and shall expire on June 30, 2024.

OKCPS believes that a teacher who holds a standard teaching certificate has an increased chance of impacting student success. By increasing the total number of work days for teachers who are not currently issued at least a provisional or standard teaching certificate, the District will increase its systems of support for educators entering the field, providing guaranteed and viable professional learning for emergency certified teachers not currently issued at least a provisional or standard teaching certificate.

- 1. Five additional work days will be added to the 2024-2025 contract for emergency certified teachers to provide more targeted training through professional development. These five work days will consist of three additional days at the beginning of the calendar year and two days during Fall Break.
- 2. Emergency certified teachers who start work after the additional training days will be required to attend make-up sessions, which may include teacher work days and/or non-contract days to meet the requirements of the contract for which they will receive no additional compensation.
- 3. For emergency certified teachers employed by the District at the beginning of the school year, testing requirements towards certification must be completed by March 31st. Emergency certified teachers hired for the second semester must complete testing requirements by May 1st.
- 4. Emergency certified teachers will receive additional compensation in the form of a \$1,000 stipend once all requirements have been met to receive either alternative certification or standard certification.
- 5. Any dispute will be resolved in accordance with the CBA, or by mutual agreement between the District and Union.

P.O. Box 36609, Oklahoma City, OK 73136 Phone: 405-587-1000 | web: www.okcps.org



Judenten Torie Luster (Nov 12, 2024 13:27 CST)	Nov 12, 2024
Torie Pennington	Date
President, AFT	
Brad Herger	Nov 12, 2024
Brad Herzer	 Date

Assistant Superintendent, OKCPS

Appendix G - MOU Summer School Compensation



TO: Torie Pennington

AFT President

FROM: Brad Herzer

OKCPS Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources

DATE: May 3, 2024

Deputy Superintendent, OKCPS

RE: Memorandum of Understanding - Summer School Compensation

This Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") is between Oklahoma City Public Schools, District I-89 ("District") and the Oklahoma City AFT, Local 2309 ("Union"). No other promises, implied or expressed, are made other than those appearing in this recital.

In order to achieve the appropriate staffing needed for the OKCPS Summer Learning program, Speech & Language Pathologists and Psychologists employed by the District for summer learning shall be compensated at the rate of \$45.00 per hour.

This MOU shall remain effective through June 30, 2024.

Torie Luster (May 23, 2024 14:33 EDT)	May 23, 2024
Torie Pennington	Date
President, AFT	
Brad Herzer	May 23, 2024
Brad Herzer	 Date

P.O. Box 36609, Oklahoma City, OK 73136 Phone: 405-587-1000 | web: www.okcps.org

2024-08-19_18.03 FY25 CBA_Amer. Fed. of Teachers Local 2309 AFL-CIO of OK City, OK

Final Audit Report 2025-01-08

Created: 2025-01-08

By: Melanie Holiday (mjholiday@okcps.org)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAA0orFE8jL28UnRFWxSWECO-VpJXzGyulX

"2024-08-19_18.03 FY25 CBA_Amer. Fed. of Teachers Local 23 09 AFL-CIO of OK City, OK" History

- Document created by Melanie Holiday (mjholiday@okcps.org)
 2025-01-08 2:41:39 PM GMT
- Document emailed to Torie Luster (torie@okcaft.org) for signature 2025-01-08 2:42:24 PM GMT
- Email viewed by Torie Luster (torie@okcaft.org)
 2025-01-08 4:04:39 PM GMT
- Signer Torie Luster (torie@okcaft.org) entered name at signing as Torie Luster Pennington 2025-01-08 4:13:12 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Torie Luster Pennington (torie@okcaft.org) Signature Date: 2025-01-08 - 4:13:14 PM GMT - Time Source: server
- Agreement completed. 2025-01-08 - 4:13:14 PM GMT